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At Waha Capital PJSC (the Company), we believe that by
implementing and maintaining a high-quality corporate
governance framework and exercising complete information
transparency, we are better able to promote the long-term
sustainable success of the Company, generate value for all
its stakeholders, and contribute to the wider community.

Consequently, we have adopted and implemented a complete corporate governance framework that caters for all applicable laws
and regulations while aligning with international best practice.

Our corporate governance framework has been engineered to ensure that the Company maintains a culture of the highest standards
of consistency, responsibility, accountability, and transparency at all levels.

The purpose of this document is to report on the Company’s corporate governance framework for the financial year ending 31
December 2024 (in accordance with the Chairman of Authority’s Board of Directors’ Resolution No. (3 R.M) of 2020 (as amended) (the
Corporate Governance Code), issued by the Securities and Commaodities Authority (SCA).

Mr. Waleed Al Muhairi

Chairman of the Board
of Directors

a @ﬁ’&%@»

Mr. Homaid Al Shimmari Mr. Rasheed Al Omaira

Chairman of the Nomination and
Remuneration Committee

%

Chairman of the
Audit Committee

s
Mr. Ahmed Al Qassimi Mr. Paul Myers
Chairman of the Risk and General Counsel and

Compliance Committee Company Secretary
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Our Corporate

Governance System

The Company is committed to strong corporate governance
principles and accordingly, we have implemented

and maintain a corporate governance framework that
meets the requirements applicable to public joint stock
companies incorporated in the United Arab Emirates (the
UAE) and that is consistent with international best practice.

To achieve these aims and to ensure compliance with the specific
requirements of the Corporate Governance Code relating to
accountability, equity (including fair treatment of shareholders),
transparency and disclosure, and responsibility, the Company
has adopted a corporate governance policy and certain other
related policies and practices that act as the core framework for
our corporate governance system.

Below is a brief summary of some of the key policies and practices
that we have implemented and under which we operate.

Corporate Governance Policy

Our Corporate Governance Policy provides clear and detailed
guidance on: (a) the Company’s corporate governance structure
and the interface between the Company and its stakeholders;
(b) the authorities and decision-making mechanisms within the
Company and between its stakeholders; and (c) the role and
responsibilities of the Company’s corporate governance function.

Code of Conduct

Our Code of Conduct promotes the Company’s commitment
to high standards of professional and equitable behavior in
everything that it does. Principally, the code sets out: (a) the
minimum standard of personal conduct that the Company
expects from anyone working for or on behalf of the Company;
and (b) a clear and concise suite of rules and standards that
have been developed to cater for a business environment that
is ethical, non-discriminatory, compliant, and in adherence
with the Company’s principal values.

Insider Dealing

The necessity to have fair and transparent dealings in the
Company’s securities is of fundamental importance to us, and
accordingly, the Company maintains a zero-tolerance
approach to any activities that may prevent or hinder the
safeguarding of these principles. Consequently, we have
adopted and maintain a Share Dealing Policy that is designed
to ensure that the obligations and responsibilities of our
directors, officers, and employees (and their connected
persons) are clearly defined, and which will prevent persons
from trading or otherwise dealing in the Company’s securities
based on undisclosed market-sensitive information. We have
an Insider Dealing Committee that administers and oversees
our Share Dealing Policy, and which regularly monitors the
trading in the Company’s shares.

Disclosure Practices

We are committed to maintaining an environment that
promotes disclosure and transparency and accordingly,
ensures that the Company remains in compliance with the
rules and regulations relating to disclosure and transparency
and its obligations to SCA and the Abu Dhabi Securities
Exchange (the ADX). By maintaining this commitment, we are
able to ensure that the Company’s securities are traded in a
fully informed marketplace. Accordingly, the Company’s policy
is to make regular disclosures to SCA and the ADX, including
but not limited to in relation to its quarterly and annual
financial statements, its upcoming Board meetings and
decisions, any applicable dividends, its key investor relations
materials, and key transactions entered into by the Company.
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Related Party Transactions Policy

Our Related Party Transaction Policy has been developed to
ensure that: (a) transactions with related parties are conducted
on arms’ length terms and are fair, reasonable, and in favour of
the shareholders of the Company; (b) the members of our board
of directors (the Board and the Directors) and senior
management are aware of the steps required to approve
transactions with related parties; and (c) a legitimate business
case is present and which supports the relevant related party
transaction. Accordingly, the Company may not enter into a
related party transaction unless it has been properly authorised
and approved (i.e. by the Board or by its shareholders at a
general assembly (the General Assembly) - depending on the
nature and value of the transaction).

Conflicts of Interest Policy

We expect all of our Directors, officers, and employees to act
with honesty and integrity and to avoid any actual or apparent
conflicts of interest in their personal and professional
relationships. A conflict of interest exists when a person’s private
interest interferes, or appears to interfere, in any way with the
interests of the Company. Accordingly, our Conflicts of Interests
Policy sets forth requirements for the avoidance and
management of such conflicts and the appropriate disclosure
procedures to follow to the extent that a conflict does arise.

Anti-bribery and Corruption Policy

Our Anti-bribery and Corruption Policy is designed to ensure
that the Company and its Directors, officers, and employees
comply with the laws and regulations of the UAE and other
relevant international bodies, and prohibits any improper
payment, promise of payment, or offer of employment, or the
improper provision of anything of value to government officials
or to any person employed by or representing a government,
officials of a political party, officials of public international
organisations, candidates for office, and employees of state-
owned enterprises, or to any other person for the purpose of
obtaining or retaining business or influencing any official action.

Anti-Money Laundering & Counter Financing
of Terrorism Policy

The Company is committed to the highest standards of Anti
Money Laundering and Counter Financing of Terrorism
(together referred to as AML).

The aim of our AML Policy is to establish and maintain systems
and controls to prevent opportunities for money laundering
and/or the financing of terrorism and to ensure that the
Company’s Directors, officers, and employees are provided
with sufficient information, guidance, and training so as to
enable them to comply with all relevant AML regulations.

Whistleblowing Policy

We expect all of our Directors, officers, and employees to
exercise due care, honesty, transparency, and integrity in
fulfilling their responsibilities, and to comply with all
applicable laws and regulations.

Our Whistleblowing Policy encourages our employees to
report concerns about unethical or unlawful behavior in
connection with our business by assuring confidentiality and
by protecting good faith whistle-blowers from retaliation, even
if they are mistaken.

Diversity and Inclusion Policy

We are committed to fostering, cultivating, and preserving a
culture of diversity, equity, and inclusion from the top down.

The Company’s Diversity and Inclusion Policy has been designed
to develop and foster a work environment that encourages and
enforces gender and diversity equity, teamwork, and respect, and
both group and individual contribution to the Company as well as
the wider community that we serve.

Corporate Governance Framework

Our corporate governance framework sets the tone for how
corporate governance should be addressed and conducted
throughout our group companies pursuant to our group corporate
governance structure. Through this framework, the Company is
able to ensure that, among other things, its corporate governance
standards are also adhered to by all of its group companies.
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Share
Dealings

Acquisitions and sales of the Company’s shares and other transactions involving the Company’s shares by Directors, officers, and
employees are governed by our Share Dealing Policy.

Itis our policy that “inside information” must not be used by anyone for personal gain. Accordingly, under our Share Dealing Policy,
we expect that our Directors, officers, and employees abide by the terms of our policy and adhere to the applicable laws that apply
to the use of inside information and dealings in the Company’s shares.

The following table sets forth the details of all purchases and sales of our shares undertaken by members of the Board, their

spouses, and their children in 2024:

Director Position Shares Held as of Total Sale Total Purchase
31 December 2024 Transactions Transactions

Mr. Waleed Al Mokarrab Chairman Director: Nil Nil Nil
Al Mubhairi Spouse: Nil
Children: Nil

Mr. Ahmed Al Dhaheri Vice-Chairman Director: 64,000,000 Nil Nil
Spouse: Nil
Children: Nil

Mr. Mohamed Al Nowais Director Director: Nil Nil Nil
Spouse: Nil
Children: Nil

Mr. Rasheed Al Omaira Director Director: 51,225 Nil Nil
Spouse: Nil
Children: Nil

H.E. Nadar Al Hammadi Director Director: Nil Nil Nil
Spouse: Nil
Children: Nil

Mr. Homaid Al Shimmari Director Director: Nil Nil Nil
Spouse: Nil
Children: Nil

Mr. Ahmed Al Qassimi Director Director: Nil Nil Nil
Spouse: Nil
Children: Nil

Ms. Sanaa Al Ketbi Director Director: Nil Nil Nil
Spouse: Nil
Children: Nil

Mr. Darwish Al Ketbi Director Director: Nil Nil Nil
Spouse: Nil
Children: Nil

Mr. Rashed Al Ketbi Former Director Director: 29,955 Nil Nil
(Member of the Board ~ Spouse: Nil
until 26 March 2024) Children: Nil
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Board
Formation

Our Board comprises nine Directors who were elected
by the General Assembly at the Company’s annual
general meeting that was held on 26 March 2024.

Eight Directors are non-executive directors, with seven Directors being independent within the meaning of the Corporate
Governance Code. Each Director has the requisite knowledge, skills, and expertise required to enable our Board to efficiently and
effectively perform its functions.

Pursuant to our Articles of Association, each Director serves for a term of three years and may be re-elected to serve successive
terms at the end of each three-year term.

Composition of the Board of Directors

We have set out below details of the composition of our Board and have included details of each Director’s experience,
qualifications, and their membership and positions in other companies.

Mr. Waleed Al Muhairi Mr. Ahmed Al Dhaheri
Chairman / Independent Non-executive Director Vice-Chairman / Non-executive Director (*)
Since March 2019 Since April 2012

Mr. Mohamed Al Nowais
Managing Director (*)
Since March 2018

Mr. Rasheed Al Omaira
Independent Non-executive Director
Since March 2018

H.E. Nadar AlHammadi
Independent Non-executive Director
Since March 2019

Mr. Homaid Al Shimmari
Independent Non-executive Director
Since March 2021

Mr. Ahmed Al Qassimi
Independent Non-executive Director
Since March 2024

Ms. Sanaa Al Ketbi
Independent Non-executive Director
Since March 2024

Mr. Darwish Al Ketbi
Independent Non-executive Director
Since March 2024

(*) Under the Corporate Governance Code: Mr. Mohamed Al Nowais is not considered independent as he holds an executive role as Managing Director
of the Company (a role he was initially appointed to on 11 May 2023); and Mr. Ahmed Al Dhaheri is not considered independent as he has held his

position as a Director of the Company for more than 3 consecutive terms.
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Our Board
of Directors

Mr. Waleed Al Mokarrab Al Muhairi

Independent Non-executive Chairman

Experience

Mr. Al Muhairi serves as Mubadala’s Deputy Group Chief
Executive Officer and has strategic oversight of Mubadala’s
broad investment portfolio and special projects at the group
level. He is also a member of Mubadala’s investment
committee, which is mandated to develop Mubadala’s
investment policies, establish investment guidelines, and
review proposed projects and investments to ensure they are
in line with business objectives.

Mr. Al Muhairi is also the Chairman of Mubadala's new
investment and business planning committee, which approves
transactions within certain financial thresholds in addition to
having the responsibility of annual and multi-year business
planning. Furthermore, Mr. Al Muhairi has oversight of
Mubadala’s Real Estate & Infrastructure Investments and
Diversified Investments platforms.

10

Prior to joining Mubadala, Mr. Al Muhairi worked with the UAE
Offsets Programme Bureau as a Senior Project Manager. Past roles
also include working with McKinsey & Company as a consultant.

Mr. Al Muhairi is the Chairman of Waha Capital, Mubadala
Capital, Global Institute for Disease Elimination (GLIDE), and the
US-UAE Business Council. In addition, Mr. Al Muhairi is the first
Vice Chairman of Aldar, and a member of the Board of Trustees
of Cleveland Clinic in the United States. He is also a board member
of First Abu Dhabi Bank (FAB), Hub71, Ellipses Pharma Limited,
Abu Dhabi Investment Council, Investcorp, Tamkeen, and M42.

Qualifications

Mr. Al Muhairi holds a Master’s Degree in Public Policy from
Harvard University, and a Bachelor of Science Degree in
Foreign Service in Economics and Finance from Georgetown
University, USA.
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Mr. Mohamed Al Nowais

Managing Director

Experience

Mr. Al Nowais took on the role of Managing Director for Waha
Capital in May 2023, bringing with him a wealth of knowledge
and extensive experience in the investment sector.

Mr. Al Nowais is the Managing Director of AMEA Power, a
developer, owner, and operator of renewable and thermal
power projects in Africa, the Middle East, and Asia. He is also
an Executive Director at AlNowais Investments Company.
Previously, Mr. Al Nowais worked as an Investment Associate
at the Abu Dhabi Investment Authority (ADIA), as well as an
Investment Banking Analyst with J.P. Morgan in New York,
USA. Following his graduation, he completed multiple
internships with international financial institutions, including
HSBC in Abu Dhabi and Citi Bank in London, UK.

Mr. Al Nowais is a Board member for Al Dhafra Insurance Company
P.S.C. and Abu Dhabi National Industrial Projects (ADNIP).

Qualifications

Mr. Al Nowais holds a Bachelor’s Degree with joint honours
in Economics and Business Finance from Brunel University
in London, UK.

11
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Mr. Ahmed Al Dhaheri

Vice Chairman / Non-executive Director
Member of the Audit Committee and Nomination and
Remuneration Committee

Experience

Mr. Al Dhaheri is the Honorary Chairman of Ali and Sons
Holdings LLC and the Chairman of Hily Holdings PJSC. He is the
founder and Chairman of AAK Investment - Sole Proprietorship
LLC and is also the founder of Green Motors U.A.E.

Qualifications

Mr. Al Dhaheri is a Certified Public Accountant in California and
holds a bachelor’s degree in accounting from Seattle Pacific
University, Washington, USA. Mr. Al Dhaheri also holds a Higher
Diploma in Business Administration (specialising in accounting)
from the Higher Colleges of Technology, Abu Dhabi UAE.
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Mr. Rasheed Al Omaira
Independent Non-executive Director

Chairman of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee

Experience

Mr. Al Omaira holds board positions on Al Wathba National
Insurance Company and Waha Capital. He also holds the
position of Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors of Abu
Dhabi National Company for Building Materials (Bildco), a
company listed on the Abu Dhabi Stock Exchange.

Mr. Al Omaira previously held the position of CEO of Abu Dhabi
National Company for Building Materials (Bildco). In addition,
Mr. Al Omaira was the CEO and Vice Chairman of the Board of
Directors of Vision Capital Brokerage Company between

2006 and 2010.

Mr. Al Omaira has more than 26 years of experience in business
leadership. He has led his family business group and manages
the day-to-day business and assets to ensure that profitability
and revenue growth are maintained.

12

H.E. Nadar Al Hammadi

Independent Non-executive Director

Member of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee

Experience

H.E. Nader AlHammadi is an established member of the Abu
Dhabi business community. He is the Chairman of Abu Dhabi
Aviation Group, holds the position of Vice Chairman at Abu Dhabi
Airports, and also holds board positions at several prominent
organizations.

H.E. AlLHammadi began his career in Gulf Aircraft Maintenance
Company (GAMCO), where he held key roles and established
GAMAERQO, a groundbreaking joint venture between GAMCO and
Aerospatiale, where he served as its Executive Director. He joined
Presidential Flight in 1996 and held several key management
positions and was appointed Managing Director and CEO in 2014.

H.E. AlHammadi has more than 30 years of work experience,
which includes 15 years in managing public and private joint-stock
companies covering several sectors, including real estate
investment and aviation management, as well as his experience in
the hotel, construction, manufacturing, and mining sectors.

Qualifications

H.E. AlHammadi graduated from Embry-Riddle Aeronautical
University in Florida, USA, in 1990 and holds a Bachelor of
Science in Aviation Electronics (Avionics). He also holds a
post-graduate degree in Engineering Business Management
from Warwick University in London, UK, in 2002 and has
completed “The Advanced Management Programme” held at
INSEAD in Fontainebleau, France, in March 2007.
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Mr. Homaid Al Shimmari
Independent Non-executive Director

Chairman of the Audit Committee and Member of the Nomination
and Remuneration Committee

Experience

Mr. Al Shimmari is the Deputy Group CEO and Chief Corporate
& Human Capital Officer in Mubadala. He has oversight of
Mubadala’s Business Services, Enterprise Technology Services,
Government Affairs, Construction Management Services,
Employee Career Growth, Talent Acquisition, Learning and
Development, Performance Management, and Emiratization.

Prior to the merger of Mubadala Development Company and
International Petroleum Investment Company (IPIC),

Mr. Al Shimmari was the CEO of the Aerospace and
Engineering Services platform in Mubadala. His main focus
was driving the strategic vision and plans for developing
technologically advanced industries within Abu Dhabi and the
UAE, in addition to ensuring Mubadala is well-positioned to
become a key global aerospace, ICT, and Defence player.

13

Mr. Al Shimmari is the Chairman of Maximus Air Cargo and a
board member of Abu Dhabi Aviation. He is also a member of
the Board of Trustees for UAE University and Khalifa University
of Science, Technology, and Research.

Mr. Al Shimmari is the Chairman of SolutionsPlus (Formerly BMS)
and has been a board member at FAB since January 2023 as well
as a board member at Abu Dhabi Investment Council (ADIC).

Qualifications

Mr. Al Shimmari holds a Bachelor of Science in Aeronautical
Engineering from Embry-Riddle Aeronautical University, USA.
He holds a black belt in Six Sigma from General Electric, a
highly disciplined leadership program.
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Mr. Ahmed Al Qassimi
Independent Non-executive Director

Chairman of the Risk and Compliance Committee

Experience

Mr. Al Qassami is the Managing Director of SAAS Properties
and the Chairman of SAAS Investments. He is also a member
of the Board of Directors of SAAS Properties and Arady. He
previously served as Vice Chairman of Megal Mall Sharjah.

Qualifications

Ms. Al Qassimi holds a Bachelor of Science from
Suffolk University.

14

Ms. Sanaa Al Ketbi

Independent Non-executive Director

Member of the Audit Committee and the Risk and
Compliance Committee

Experience

Ms. Al Ketbi is the Chief Executive Officer of RDK Group. She
served as a board member of Al Wathba National Insurance
Company PJSC from 2021 to 2024.

Ms. Al Ketbi previously served as Associate Director - Hedge
Funds at National Bank of Abu Dhabi and also served as
Investment Associate of the Emirates Investment Authority.

Qualifications

Ms. Al Ketbi holds a Bachelor of Business Science from Zayed
University, UAE. Ms. Al Ketbi also holds the CFA designation.
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Mr. Darwish Al Ketbi
Independent Non-executive Director

Member of the Risk and Compliance Committee

Experience

Mr. Al Ketbi is the Chief Investment Officer for Saif Bin
Darwish Company, where he also previously served as its
Head of Investments.

Mr. Al Ketbi is a member of the Board of Directors of GFH
Financial Group BSC (GFH), Shuaa Capital, and Union
Properties. In addition, he chairs the Shuaa Board's
Investment Committee and Risk and Governance Committee
and is a member of several other Board committees.

Qualifications

Mr. Al Ketbi holds a Bachelor of Science with a Major in Finance
from Zayed University, Abu Dhabi, UAE.

15
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Women’s representation on our
Board of Directors

On 26 March 2024, Ms. Sanaa Al Ketbi was elected to the Board
of Directors, and accordingly, there is currently one female
member of the Board, which is in compliance with the
Corporate Governance Code. Note: in addition to herrole as a
member of the Board, Ms. Al Ketbi also sits on two of the Board’s
permanent committees (namely, the Audit Committee and the
Risk and Compliance Committee).

In accordance with our commitment to gender diversity and in
line with our Diversity and Inclusion Policy, we actively pursue
opportunities to enhance our female representation at all
levels within the Company and its operations.

Furthermore, we are committed to providing a working
environment that caters for diversity and provides equal
opportunities for all, irrespective of ethnicity, religion, gender,
or age. The principles and practices associated with
maintaining an equal opportunities environment apply to all
aspects of employment with the Company, namely,
recruitment, promotion, remuneration, training, work
assignments, and disciplinary actions.

16

Directors’ Remuneration

For 2023, our Directors were paid AED 17.38 million (plus
applicable VAT) (paid in 2024 following the approval of the
Directors’ remuneration at the Company’s 2024 General
Assembly). The Directors’ remuneration for the 2024 financial
year will be presented to shareholders for approval at the
Company’s 2025 General Assembly. To this end, for the 2024
financial year, the Board has recommended that the
Directors receive a total of AED 15.15 million (plus any
applicable VAT) as remuneration for the services performed
by them in 2024.

For 2024, no allowances were paid to the Directors for their
attendance at meetings of the Board.

Other than fees paid to Mr. Mohamed Al Nowais for his role as
the Company’s Managing Director (as further described at
page 20 of this report), no additional allowances, salaries, or
fees have been paid to the Board members in 2024.
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Board and Board Committees’ Annual Performance Evaluation

In 2024, the Board of Directors conducted an evaluation of its performance, and the performance of its members and
committees. This evaluation was led by the Nomination & Remuneration Committee (and specifically, its Chairman, Mr.

Rasheed Al Omaira).

Board Meeting - attendance records

The Company’s Articles of Association require that the Board meet a minimum of four times each year. The quorum for
meetings is a majority of Directors, and resolutions of the Board are adopted by a majority of the votes of the Directors
present and represented.

In 2024, the Board met seven times. Details of those meetings (including attendance records of those meetings) are set out in
the table below:

E\ j 6 g g
© [} 0 E E
> < + e c
e [S) %] [} v (7]
e = > > = (0] > (o]
0] ] © oo o > ] ()
o = = E; o (=} = a
. . ™ © 0 < — = I o
Director Position — ~ — — ™ o ~ —
Mr. Waleed Al Muhairi Chairman P P P A P P P P
Mr. Ahmed Al Dhaheri Vice-Chairman P P P P P P A P
Mr. Mohamed Al Nowais Director P P P P P P P P
Mr. Rasheed Al Omaira Director P P P P P P P P
H.E. Nader Al Hammadi Director P P P P P P P P
Mr. Homaid Al Shimmari Director P A P P A P A P
Mr. Ahmed Al Qassimi (*) Director N/A A P P P P P P
Ms. Sanaa Al Ketbi (*) Director N/A P P P P P P P
Mr. Darwish Al Ketbi (*) Director N/A A P P P P P P
Mr. Rashed Al Ketbi (**) Director P N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

P - Present/ A - Absent / N/A - Not Applicable
(*) Member of the Board from 26 March 2024.
(**) Member of the Board until 26 March 2024.

A total of 23 resolutions were approved by the Board of Directors in 2024, each of which was passed on a date
referred to in the table above.
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Matters reserved to the Board of Directors and delegated to management

The Board of Directors has issued a Delegation of Authority to Mr. Mohamed Al Nowais, the Company’s Managing Director, under
which the Board of Directors has delegated to him the authority to conduct the daily management activities of the Company, subject
to appropriate limits (beyond which, the approval of the Board of Directors must be sought). Under the Delegation of Authority,

Mr. Al Nowais has the ability to sub-delegate activities to other members of the Company’s management. Notwithstanding the
Delegation of Authority that has been provided to Mr. Al Nowais, the Board of Directors maintains oversight over these activities,
and Mr. Nowais is regularly required to report to the Board of Directors with respect to the activities undertaken by him pursuant
to the terms of the Delegation of Authority.

Details of the Delegation of Authority are provided below:

Name of the authorized person Scope of authority Duration of delegation
Mr. Mohamed Al Nowais, Authority to conduct the daily Until the authority is revoked
the Company’s Managing Director. management activities of the by the Board of Directors.

Company, subject to appropriate
limits as set down by the Board of
Directors from time to time.

Related Party Transactions

Certain Directors and employees of the Company (which persons would constitute Related Parties for the purposes of the Corporate
Governance Code) have historically:

(a) entered into co-investment arrangements with the Company whereby such individuals personally co-invested (directly or
indirectly) alongside the Company where the Company (or its applicable group company) concluded an applicable investment; and

(b) invested in the funds managed by our subsidiary Waha Investments.

As of the end of 2024, a number of such arrangements remain in place, details of which are set out below:

Type of Transaction Value (as of 31 December 2024)
Co-investments in our private investment portfolio companies AED 11.7 million
Investments into the funds managed by our subsidiary Waha Investments AED 3.6 million

18
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Executive
Management

Under the Managing Director’s delegation of authority (as
described above), and in consultation with the Board, the
Managing Director has sub-delegated some of the powers
to members of the executive management team.

Our executive management team carries out the day-to-day activities of the Company pursuant to this authority
and in line with international best practice and the relevant governance rules and regulations. Below is the current
organization structure of the Company:

The Company’s Organisation Chart

Waha Capital Risk and Compliance
Board Committee
Nomination and Audit
Remuneration < > " N
. Committee
Committee
Internal Audit ————
Managing .
‘ Director =
Office Manager B Compliance
S General
Waha Private Chief Human Head of
Waha Land . . Head . Counsel &
LLC Investment Invest.:ments Financial of IT Capital and Inves_tor Company
PrJscC Business Officer Support Relations s
o ecretary
Services
Waha Private .
i Lz Investment Investments RS Technology Human Capital Inve§tor Legal
Team Treasury Relations
Team Team
Admin External
Comms
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Key Executive Management -
Governance

Mohamed Al Nowais

Managing Director

Mr. Mohamed Al Nowais was appointed Managing Director of
the Company in May 2023, bringing with him a wealth of
knowledge and extensive experience in the investment sector.

Mr. Al Nowais is the Managing Director of AMEA Power, a
developer, owner, and operator of renewable power projects
in Africa, the Middle East, and Asia. He is also the Executive
Director at Al Nowais Investments LLC, a holding company
that invests in healthcare, communication, and technology,
contracting, engineering, and industry services, real estate,
and hospitality through its subsidiaries. From 2018 until
present, Mr. Al Nowais has served as a board member of Waha
Capital. He is also a board member in Abu Dhabi National
Industrial Projects (ADNIP), Al Dhafra Insurance Company
P.S.C., and Emirates Angels Investors Association since 2019.

Previously, and for a span of six years, Mr. Al Nowais was an
Investment Associate at Abu Dhabi Investment Authority
(ADIA), a sovereign wealth fund owned by the Emirate of Abu
Dhabi, as well as an investment banking Analyst with J.P.
Morgan in New York, USA. He also completed multiple
internships with international financial institutions,
including HSBC in Abu Dhabi and Citi Bank in London, UK.

Mr. Al Nowais holds a Bachelor’s Degree with joint honours in
Economics and Business Finance from Brunel University in
London, UK. Business Finance from Brunel University.

James Finucane

Chief Financial Officer

Mr. James Finucane joined the Company in March 2024 as its
Chief Financial Officer.

Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Finucane held senior
financial roles in Aldar (where he served as Group Treasurer)
and Emirates Steel Arkan. Prior to this, Mr. Finucane worked
with KPMG in Europe (having qualified as a Chartered
Accountant with KPMG Luxembourg).

Mr. Finucane has over 20 years’ experience in senior finance roles
in Europe and the Middle East, with a focus on debt procurement,
risk and liquidity management, and corporate finance.

Mr. Finucane holds a Bachelor of Arts Degree in Economics
and History from the University of Limerick, Ireland, and a
Post Graduate Diploma in Business Studies from the
University College Dublin.

Paul Myers
General Counsel and Company Secretary
Mr. Paul Myers joined the Company in 2020 and is responsible

for the Company’s legal and regulatory affairs, corporate
governance, compliance, and company secretarial functions.

20

Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Myers held senior legal
roles in AFK Sistema, one of Russia’s largest public
investment companies, and in Redline Capital, a
Luxembourg-regulated funds management group. Prior to
this, Mr. Myers worked for Allen & Overy, where he advised
both private enterprises and listed companies on high-value
global transactions across a number of industry sectors.

Mr. Myers brings more than 20 years of experience, including
complex public and private mergers and acquisitions, joint
ventures, and private equity, fund structuring, compliance,
and corporate governance.

Mr. Myers holds a Bachelor of Arts Degree from the University
of New South Wales and a Bachelor of Laws Degree from the
University of New England.

Said Djebbar

Head of Risk Management

Mr. Said Djebbar joined the Company in January 2023 and is
the head of the Company’s risk management function.

Mr. Djebbar joined the Company from Seviora Holding Pte Ltd
in Singapore, where he was responsible for all Risk Management
activity. Before joining Seviora Holding, Mr. Djebbar also
worked as the Head of Risk Management for Southeast Asia
at Amundi Singapore Ltd, a subsidiary of Amundi Group,
overseeing risks for two management sites as well as the
Asian trading arm of Amundi, and a sales office.

Mr. Djebbar is a seasoned and performance-driven senior
management professional with more than 20 years of
experience in Risk Management and holds a Master's degree
in Mathematical Engineering with a major in Finance from
the University of Evry and a Bachelor’s in Mathematics from
the University of Orsay in France.

Ameera Khalid

Head of Investor Relations and External Communications

Ms. Ameera Khalid joined the Company in March 2020 and is
the Head of the Company’s Investor Relations and External
Communications functions. She leads the company's
engagement with investors, analysts, and key stakeholders,
ensuring transparent communication and strategic
alignment with market expectations.

Prior to joining Waha Capital, Ms. Khalid was responsible for
stakeholder relations and reporting at Dubai Carbon, a
subsidiary of Dubai Electricity and Water Authority (DEWA).
In this role, she managed relationships with both public and
private sector stakeholders across the UAE, with a particular
focus on sustainability reporting and corporate disclosures.

With over a decade of experience in financial services, Ms. Khalid
brings deep expertise in investor relations, corporate
communications, and stakeholder engagement. She holds a
Bachelor’s degree in Accounting from the Oxford Brookes
University, United Kingdom, and is also a qualified member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (ACCA), UK.
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Key Executive Management Remuneration

Details of the total remuneration paid to the relevant members of our
executive management team in 2024 are provided in the table below:

Position Appointment Date Total Salary Total Bonuses
Paid in 2024 @ Paid in 2024

Managing Director 11 May 2023 AED 2,520,000 AED 3,000,000

Chief Financial Officer ® 19 March 2024 AED 1,177,419 -

Acting CIO - Private Investments 30 September 2021 AED 1,248,000 AED 1,040,897

General Counsel & Company Secretary 30 August 2020 AED 1,320,000 AED 1,320,000

(1) These amounts exclude standard benefits paid, such as education assistance, medical insurance, life insurance, and

employer contribution to pension.

(2) Bonuses for 2024 (which will be paid in 2025) and any deferred bonuses (or other payments) that will become

payable in 2025 will be included in the Company’s 2025 Corporate Governance Report.

(3) The Chief Financial Officer took up his appointment on 19 March 2024. Accordingly, the amounts are for the period
commencing 19 March 2024 and ending 31 December 2024.
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External

Auditor

For 2024, the Company’s external audit function was entrusted to
Ernst & Young (EY), who was re-appointed as auditor of the
Company at the Company’s 2024 annual General Assembly that
took place on 26 March 2024. EY has been engaged as the
Company’s external auditor since its initial appointment in 2019.

EY has maintained a presence in the MENA region since 1923
and is among the region’s top professional services firms,
providing audit, tax, consulting, and financial services advice
through 21 offices in 16 countries in the region with more than
7,500 directors, partners, and staff.

Number of years served as external auditor
for the Company

The Company adopts a policy on its external auditor’s
independence by which the external auditor may not, while
assuming the auditing of the Company’s financial statements,
perform any technical, administrative, or consultation services or
works in connection with its assumed duties that may affect its
decisions and independence or any services or works that, in the
discretion of SCA, may not be rendered by the external auditor.

Details of the fees paid to EY for the 2024 auditing services are
summarised in the table below:

6 years

Responsible Partner

Mr. Arslan Khalid served as audit partner for 2024

Total fees for auditing the financial statements
in 2024 (in AED)

AED 703,500 for the audit and the quarterly reviews of the
Company’s annual financial statements made up as follows:

« AED 313,500 for the quarterly reviews;

« AED 330,000 for the annual financial statements; and

« AED 60,000 for other related expenses

(including translation and XBRL protal sign-off)

Fees and costs for other private services other than
auditing the financial statements for 2024 (in AED)

AED 795,411 for the audit and quarterly review of the financial
statements of certain subsidiaries of the Company

Details and nature of other services provided (if any)

Advisory Services (related to the 2024 audit work undertaken by EY
for the Company and its subsidiaries) - Total fees of AED 50,000

Statement of other services performed by an external
auditor other than the Company’s auditor in 2024.

Nil

No qualified opinions or reservations were made by the Company’s external auditor in the interim and annual financial

statements for 2024.

Note: the re-appointment of EY for 2024 represented its 6 consecutive term, meaning it is not eligible to be re-appointed as the
Company’s external auditor in 2025. Accordingly, at the Company’s 2025 Annual General Assembly, a proposal will be put to
shareholders to appoint a new external auditor for the Company from 2025 onwards.
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Audit
Committee

Our Audit Committee assists the Board in discharging its
responsibilities with regard to financial reporting, external and
internal audits and controls, namely, by: overseeing the
integrity of and reviewing the Company’s annual and interim
financial statements; developing and applying the policy for
contracting with external auditors; overseeing the relationship
with our external auditors; reviewing and monitoring the
extent of any non-audit work undertaken by the external
auditors; overseeing the qualifications and performance of the
Company’s internal audit, risk, and compliance staff; and
reviewing the Company’s financial controls, internal controls,
and risk management systems.

The Audit Committee makes recommendations to the Board,
which retains ultimate responsibility for reviewing and
approving our annual report and financial statements. The
Audit Committee gives due consideration to the applicable
laws and regulations of the UAE, SCA, and the ADX (including,
without limitation, the Corporate Governance Code).

The Audit Committee’s terms of reference (reflective of the
Corporate Governance Code) require that the Audit Committee
comprise at least three (and not more than five) non-executive
Directors with at least two of the members being independent
Directors. Additionally, one of the independent members must be
appointed as chairman of the Audit Committee, and all members
must have knowledge in financial and accounting matters (with
at least one member having practical experience in accounting or
finance and shall have a university degree or professional
certificate in accounting or finance or another relevant field).

The current members of the Audit Committee are Mr. Homaid Al
Shimmari, Mr. Ahmed Al Dhaheri, and Ms. Sanaa Al Ketbi. All

members are non-executive Directors with 2 out of the 3
members being independent Directors. All members have the
necessary skills, knowledge, and qualifications required to fulfil
their duties as members of the Company’s Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee has taken appropriate steps to ensure
that the Company’s external auditors are independent of the
Company and its operations (as required by the Corporate
Governance Code). The Audit Committee has also obtained
written confirmation from its auditors that they comply with
guidelines on independence issued by the relevant
accountancy and auditing bodies.

The Audit Committee’s responsibilities in relation to the
Company’s internal audit function include the review and
approval of the overall audit strategies and the annual audit
work plan and budget and overseeing the performance of the
internal audit program. In addition, the Audit Committee
ensures that the Company’s internal audit function has full
and unrestricted access to all required sources of information
relevant to the performance of its work.

As part of his role as Chairman of the Audit Committee for
2024, Mr. Al Shimmari acknowledged his responsibility for the
Audit Committee, the review of its working mechanisms, and
ensuring its overall effectiveness and that the Audit
Committee properly complies with all of its stated objectives.

The Audit Committee met four times during 2024. Details of
those meetings (including attendance records of those
meetings) are contained in the table below. In 2024, all
recommendations of the Audit Committee were accepted by
the Board of Directors.

> s

© €

£ - z g

[0] © 5 o

. . . . L = — =z
Committee Member Position in Committee o ~ ™ <
Mr. Homaid Al Shimmari Chairman P P P P
Mr. Ahmed Al Dhaheri Member P P A P
Ms. Sanaa Al Ketbi @ Member N/A P P P

Mr. Rashed Al Ketbi @ Member P N/A N/A N/A

P - Present, A - Absent

(1) Appointed on 26 March 2024
(2) Member until 26 March 2024
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Nomination and

Remuneration

Committee

Our Nomination and Remuneration Committee assists the Board
in discharging its responsibilities relating to the composition and
formation of the Board of Directors (and any Committees of the
Board of Directors in effect from time to time).

Principally, it is responsible for evaluating the range of
skillsets, experience, and knowledge of the Board (and
committees), its size, structure, and composition, and,
notably, assessing and monitoring the independent status of
those non-executive Directors classified as independent. In
addition, it assists the Board in determining the Company’s
needs for qualified staff at the level of senior management and
the basis of their selection.

Furthermore, Our Nomination and Remuneration Committee
reviews and recommends (in consultation with the Managing
Director or the Chairman of the Board), the terms and conditions
of the service contracts of any executive Directors and senior
management employees and reviews at least annually, the
remuneration (comprising basic salary, other allowances, and
any performance-related element of salary or bonus) of the
Company’s employees, including the senior management team,
and the remuneration proposed to be paid to the Board.

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee’s terms of

reference (reflective of the Corporate Governance Code)
require that the Nomination and Remuneration Committee
comprise at least three Non-executive Directors, and that at
least two of the members must be independent Directors. One
of the independent members must be appointed as chairman
of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee.

The current members of the Nomination and Remuneration
Committee are Mr. Rasheed Al Omaira (Chairman); Mr. Ahmed
Al Dhaheri; Mr. Homaid Al Shimmari, and H.E. Nader Al
Hammadi. All members are non-executive directors, with 3 out
of the 4 members being independent directors. All members
have the necessary skills, knowledge, and qualifications
required to fulfil their duties as members of the Company’s
Nomination and Remuneration Committee.

As part of his role as Chairman, Mr. Al Omaira acknowledges his
responsibility for the Nomination and Remuneration Committee,
the review of its working mechanisms, and ensuring its
effectiveness and that the Nomination and Remuneration
Committee properly complies with all of its stated objectives.

In 2024, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee met six
times. Details of those meetings (including attendance records
for those meetings) are contained in the table below:
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Committee Member Position in Committee © — © ~ ~N <
Mr. Rasheed Al Omaira Chairman P P P P P P
Mr. Ahmed Al Dhaheri Member P P P P - P
Mr. Homaid Al Shimmari Member P P P P A P
H.E. Nader Al Hammadi Member P P P A P P

P - Present/ A - Absent
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Risk and

Compliance
Committee

Our Risk and Compliance Committee was established in March
2024 for the purpose of assisting the Board (and the Audit
Committee) in its oversight of the Company’s enterprise risk
management and compliance programs and the efforts of the
Company’s management in identifying and mitigating risks
associated with the Company’s legal and regulatory
obligations. In so doing, the Risk and Compliance Committee
coordinates with the Audit Committee.

The Risk and Compliance Committee makes recommendations
to the Board (either directly or via the Audit Committee), which
retains ultimate responsibility for ensuring that the Company’s
compliance and risk management systems and controls are
applicable laws and regulations of the UAE, SCA, and the ADX

(including, without limitation, the Corporate Governance Code).

The Risk and Compliance Committee also provides guidance to
senior management and makes recommendations to the Board
in relation to current and potential future risk and compliance
exposures of the Company.

The Risk and Compliance Committee’s terms of reference
(which reflect the Corporate Governance Code) require that

the Risk and Compliance Committee comprises at least three
non-executive Directors, and that at least two of the members
must be independent Directors. One of the independent
members must be appointed as chairman of the Risk and
Compliance Committee.

The current members of the Risk and Compliance Committee
are Mr. Ahmed Al Qassimi (Chairman); Mr. Darwish Al Ketbi and
Ms. Sanaa Al Ketbi. All members are non-executive
independent directors. All members have the necessary skills,
knowledge, and qualifications required to fulfil their duties as
members of the Company’s Risk and Compliance Committee.

As part of his role as Chairman, Mr. Al Qassimi acknowledges
his responsibility for the Risk and Compliance Committee, the
review of its working mechanisms, and ensuring its
effectiveness and that the Risk and Compliance Committee
properly complies with all of its stated objectives.

In 2024, the Risk and Compliance Committee met three times.
Details of those meetings (including attendance records for
those meetings) are contained in the table below:
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Committee Member Position in Committee ~ Q =
Mr. Ahmed Al Qassimi Chairman P P P
Mr. Darwish Al Ketbi Member P P P
Ms. Sanaa Al Ketbi Member P P P
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Insider Dealing
Committee

Our Insider Dealing Committee oversees the compliance
with and administration of the Company’s Share Dealing
Policy and regularly monitors dealing in the Company’s
shares to reduce the risk of any unauthorised dealings
by the Company’s Directors, officers, and employees.

Pursuant to our Share Dealing Policy, all Directors, officers, and employees who are in possession of inside information are
prohibited from dealing in the Company’s securities during certain periods and must seek approval from the Insider Dealing
Committee to purchase, dispose of, or otherwise deal in the Company’s shares outside of those periods. In order to grant any
such approval, the Insider Dealing Committee must be satisfied that the individual seeking to deal in the Company’s securities is
not at that time in possession of inside information. The Insider Dealing Committee met at regular intervals during 2024 to
discuss the Share Dealing Policy, its effectiveness, and its application.

Our Insider Dealing Committee is comprised of three members as follows:
(a) the Company’s Chief Financial Officer (Chairman);
(b) the Company’s General Counsel and Company Secretary (member); and

(c) the Company’s Head of Compliance (member).

The Chairman of the Insider Dealing Committee acknowledged his responsibility for the Insider Dealing Committee, the
review of its working mechanisms, and for ensuring its effectiveness.
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Internal

Our internal control system has been established to
ensure that (a) our Board and management are able to
achieve their business objectives in a prudent manner;
and (b) we are able to effectively and efficiently
safeguard the interests of the Company’s shareholders
and other stakeholders in each case, while minimising
key risks such as fraud, unauthorised business activity,
misleading financial statements, uninformed risk-
taking, or breaches of legal or contractual obligations.
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As per our Corporate Governance Policy, the Board is
responsible for ensuring that the Company applies adequate
internal control systems. The Board is also responsible for
performing an annual review of the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control system and the scope of the
Company’s compliance with that system. Under the authority
delegated to them by the Board, our senior management is also
responsible for ensuring that adequate internal controls (both
financial and operational) are in place and applied.

In order to properly safeguard and manage the assets of the
Company in an effective and efficient manner, the Board has
developed and implemented an internal control system that:

(a) ensures efficient business processes;

(b) ensures that the Company’s objectives are implemented
in accordance with all applicable laws and requirements
of the relevant regulators (including ADX and SCA);

ensures the safety of the Company’s assets and efficient
use of its resources;

protects the interests of the Company’s shareholders;
prevents and resolves any conflicts of interest;

creates conditions for timely preparation and submission
of reliable reports and other information that is legally
required to be publicly disclosed; and

ensures the Company’s overall compliance with
applicable laws and requirements of regulators.

To ensure that our internal control system is properly embedded
into the Company and its operations, we have sought to
implement the internationally recognized 3 lines of defense
model consisting of:

Level 1: the heads of the various departments and divisions
within the Company are responsible for assessing and
managing risks and building an efficient control system for
their own functions;

Level 2: appropriate internal departments and committees
(including our compliance and risk management functions) are
responsible for developing, communicating, and monitoring
the appropriate policies, processes, and procedures for the
Company; and

Level 3: the Company’s internal audit function conducts
independent assessments of the efficiency of the internal
control system.

Internal Audit

The Board has approved an internal audit function (constituted
by our internal audit department) that is independent of our
management and reports directly to the Company’s Audit
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Committee. The department’s key objectives are to provide
assurance and advice on the adequacy of the Company’s
internal control environment and risk management processes.
This is accomplished through the execution of an annual
risk-based audit plan.

During 2024, our internal audit department carried out

11 (eleven) assurance reviews for the Company with all findings
being presented to the Audit Committee. All necessary items
for remediation have been flagged for implementation by the
respective departments with continued oversight from our
internal audit department.

Our internal audit department is led by Mr. Khalid Meah, who
was appointed as the Head of Internal Audit in November
2019. Mr. Meah has over 20 years’ experience in governance,
risk, and compliance practices from both international and
local markets. Mr. Meah is a Chartered Global Management
Accountant (CGMA), with a bachelor’s degree in History and
Politics from Queen Mary University of London and a
Master’s in Management from Loughborough University.

Compliance and control

We have established and maintain a compliance and control
framework that provides our Board and executive
management with reliable assurances on the health of our
internal controls.

Our compliance function is responsible for ensuring that the
Company and its Directors, officers, and employees operate
in full compliance with all applicable legal and regulatory
requirements (including but not limited to resolutions issued
by SCA and ADX). To underpin this function, the Company
has adopted a suite of internal policies and procedures (as
further described above).

Our compliance and control function performs a number of
key tasks that help us to ensure that the Company maintains
an effective and efficient compliance and control system.
These key tasks include:

(a) establishing policies, procedures, rules, and guidelines for
the Company, its Board, and employees that are designed
to ensure that the Company operates in full compliance
with its applicable legal and regulatory requirements;

monitoring the Company’s internal controls and
identifying any breaches or weaknesses;

reporting on the health and effectiveness of our control
system; and

recommending and implementing corrective measures
for any deficiencies or weaknesses that are identified in
our control system.
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Our compliance framework

The Company’s compliance framework (approved by the
Board), provides effective oversight and monitoring of critical
compliance requirements and embeds a strong compliance
culture across the Company in terms of adherence to
applicable laws, regulations, statutory provisions, resolutions,
all policies and procedures, and business rules using an
appropriate ‘tone at the top’ and through effective
coordination with all internal and external stakeholders.

The Company’s Head of Compliance oversees the Company’s
compliance function with a direct reporting line to the
Compliance and Risk Committee.

In 2024, the Company continued to enhance and strengthen
its compliance management by:

(@) conducting comprehensive compliance training for the
Company’s employees in order to foster an “ethics and
compliance-oriented” culture throughout the
organization;

G

reviewing and updating its key compliance policies; and

—
)
—

conducting continuous and ongoing monitoring of
external compliance requirements and proactively
identifying any non-compliances through various
compliance activities.

Name and Qualifications of the Head of
Compliance / Compliance Officer

For 2024, our compliance function was headed up by

Ms. Diana Youssef (having been appointed as the Company’s
Head of Compliance in February 2021). At the end of December
2024, Ms. Youssef resigned from the Company. As an interim
measure, Mr. Paul Myers, the General Counsel and Company
Secretary for the Company, has stepped into the role of Head
of Compliance. A new Head of Compliance for the Company
has been identified and is being onboarded by the Company.

As outlined above, Mr. Myers has over 20 years’ experience in
a variety of relevant areas, including regulatory compliance,
ethics, and anti-money laundering.

The role of the Company’s Head of Compliance is to manage the
compliance function, which includes critical areas such as
“Internal Compliance,” “External Compliance,” and “Code of
Business Conduct & Ethics,” among others, in accordance
with SCA’s mandate regarding the roles and responsibilities of
the Head of Compliance. The Company’s Head of Compliance
plays a crucial role in formulating the Company’s compliance
strategy and defining the compliance roadmap, putting that
role into a pivotal position to foster a “compliance-oriented”
culture across the Company.
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Risk Management

Risk management is an integral part of our operations and
permeates through every level of our organisation, in order
to support and sustain the primary objective of creating
long-term shareholder value by leveraging our expertise in
managing investments, which necessarily involves undertaking
financial risk.

The Company has implemented an integrated enterprise
management system that establishes a control environment,
sets the risk appetite, approves policies, and delegates
responsibilities under the Company’s risk management
framework. Our risk management function operates as one of
our second lines of defense and assists the Company and its
businesses in developing appropriate risk identification and
mitigation measures. Under our risk management framework,
we apply a bottom-up approach in order to identify and map
the Company’s risks and then integrate those risks into the
Company’s overall risk framework.

Our risk management framework is managed by our risk
management team (which sits independently from our
investment activities) and constantly monitors and highlights
the various types of risk that the Company may be exposed to.
Periodic risk reporting is provided to both the senior
management of the Company and the Board.

Our risk management framework

Our risk management framework has been designed to
ensure that it:

(a) facilitates risk-informed strategic planning to achieve
business objectives and identify potential business
opportunities;

(b) supports the Company in identifying and managing key
strategic, functional, investment, and project risks
(including the use of an objective-driven process);

(c) helps our Board in developing the Company’s risk
appetite (which is then used by our risk management
function to monitor the Company’s risks);

(d) assesses the identified risks and the potential impact of
such risks on the Company and its key objectives;

(e) enhances corporate performance as processes become
more risk-aware and control-focused; and

(f) strengthens the Company’s resilience to market
disruption and evolving business practices.
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Our Management Level Risk and Compliance
Committee

We have established a management level risk and
compliance committee which helps to ensure that:

(a) ourrisk management processes are in place to measure,
monitor, manage, and mitigate significant risk exposures
for the Company; and

(b) our compliance framework and controls are adequate to
address and mitigate the Company’s current and
emerging compliance risks.

Our management-level risk and compliance committee
meets at regular intervals. For the risk mandate, this
committee reviews specific risks and monitors the
Company’s overall risk exposure against its defined risk
appetite. Based on the recommendations and findings of our
management-level risk and compliance committee, we then
seek to implement additional risk mitigation measures in
order to properly address the Company’s risks.

Enterprise Risk Management

Within our overall risk management framework, we map,
monitor, and assess the Company’s enterprise risks - this is
our enterprise risk management framework. Our risk
management function uses our risk management framework
as a core tool for monitoring and assessing all the emerging
and existing risks in the Company. Some of the tools being
used for in order to monitor and assess our enterprise risks
include risk control self-assessment tools which are used for
our private investments, real-time limits management for our
asset management business, and a defined risk appetite for
various parameters. Companywide, we also employ a risk
heat map in order to identify and monitor the Company’s key
risks and monitor the mitigation mechanisms for those risks.

Reporting

Reporting is a critical part of our risk management function.
Regular reports (weekly, monthly, and quarterly reports) are
generated and shared with relevant teams and internal bodies
to ensure that the Company’s risks are channeled across all
the businesses and regularly monitored by the Company’s
senior management.

In addition, regular risk workshops are also organized for the
Company’s senior management and Board in order to create
risk awareness and continue to foster an overall risk
management culture.

Name and Qualifications of the Head of Risk

Our risk function is headed up by Mr. Said Djebbar, who was
appointed as the Company’s Head of Risk in January 2023.

Mr. Djebbar’s background and qualifications are provided
above at page 21 of this report.

Mr. Djebbar works with and reports to the Risk and
Compliance Committee and works with senior management
on ‘risk-related matters’.

Identified issues and recent developments

For 2024, no significant issues were identified with respect to
our internal control system.

Violations committed during 2024
No violations were committed by the Company in 2024.

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the internal
control system, reviewing its working mechanisms and
ensuring its effectiveness.
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Corporate Social

Responsibilty

The Company has an ongoing commitment to supporting
the socio-economic development of communities where
the Company primarily operates, namely in its home
market of Abu Dhabi. The Company seeks to contribute
to the Emirate’s economic diversification strategy in order
to create value for key stakeholders, including investors,
employees, and partners.

Our Approach and Commitment to Sustainability
The Company views sustainability in comprehensive terms. We are committed to ensuring that our organisation remains resilient
and future-proof, and serves the interests of all our stakeholders and the communities we operate in.

Our approach to playing a positive role in our community begins within our organization, where we put a strong emphasis on
cultivating strong internal and external relationships. The Company provides employees with opportunities to grow and thrive,
equipping our people with the right tools to help them reach their full potential and employing a sophisticated incentivization
program that rewards talent, hard work, and commitment.

Our Sustainability Reporting
In compliance with its obligations under the ADX Rules for Listed Companies, the Company publishes an annual stand-alone

Sustainability Report. Further details of the Company’s approach to Sustainability and ESG performance for 2024 (including its
CSR activities) are contained in the Company’s 2024 Sustainability Report.

For 2024, the Company’s total expenditure was approximately AED 1.5 million.
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General
Information

The Company’s 2024 Share Performance

The Company’s shares commenced trading on the ADX on 15 November 2000 under the symbol WAHA. The share price as of 31
December 2024 was AED 1.74. The Company’s market capitalisation as of 31 December 2024 was AED 3,277,313,688.36. Its paid-up
share capital is AED 1,883,513,614 divided into 1,883,513,614 shares of AED 1.0 each. The following table sets forth the closing price
and the high and low share prices of our shares at the end of each month during 2024.

2024 HIGH (AED) LOW (AED) CLOSE (AED)
January 1.79 1.75 1.78
February 1.75 1.70 1.74
March 1.72 1.69 1.72
April 1.59 1.55 1.58
May 1.53 1.48 1.51
June 1.52 1.47 1.50
July 1.55 1.51 1.53
August 1.59 1.55 1.57
September 1.55 1.52 1.54
October 1.47 1.44 1.46
November 1.49 1.47 1.49
December 1.53 1.50 1.53

The Company’s 2024 performance compared with its sector index
The following diagram illustrates the movement of the Company’s share price during 2024 when compared against the ADSMI Index:
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Breakdown of shareholdings as of 31 December 2024

The table below shows the number of shares held by different categories of shareholders as of 31 December 2024.

Nationality Individuals % Companies % Government % Total%
UAE 43.76% 47.07% 1.73% 92.57%
GCC (excluding UAE) 0.22% 0.13% 0.00% 0.35%
Arab (excluding UAE) 1.14% 0.04% 0.00% 1.19%
All other nationalities 0.47% 5.42% 0.00% 5.89%
Total 45.59% 52.67% 1.73% 100.00%

Statement of shareholders who owned more than 5% of the Company’s
capital as of 31 December 2024

The following table lists the shareholders who held more than 5% of the Company’s shares as of 31 December 2024.

Name of shareholder Number of shares held Percentage of share capital
Mamoura Diversified Global Holding PJSC 285,134,302 15.14%

Hily Holding 179,063,063 9.51%

Al Wathba National Insurance 161,533,180 8.58%

Hussain Jasim Al Nowais 150,687,996 8.00%

Statement of shareholding distribution by size as of 31 December 2024

The following classifies the shareholders of Waha as of 31 December 2024 according to the number of shares then held by each
shareholder.

Shares Number of shareholders Numbers of shares Percentage of shares

Less than 50,000 19,526 108,718,089 5.77%

From 50,000 to less than 500,000 661 97,071,102 5.15%

From 500,000 to less than 5,000,000 169 243,335,650 12.92%

5,000,000 or more 44 1,434,388,773 76.15%

Total 20,400 1,883,513,614 100.00%
Procedures taken with respect to the Details of the Head of Investor Relations are as follows:
controls of investor relations Tel +9712 6677343

During 2024, the Company’s Investor Relations department Fax +97126677383

published news and insights on its website and across
social media to ensure that investors are regularly updated
on the Company’s performance. Ms. Ameera Khalid, Head
of Investor Relations, and other senior members of the
Company’s management regularly meet and make Additional information can be found in the investor relations
presentations to investors. section of the website at:

Address: Floor 42-43, Etihad Towers, Tower 3, PO Box 28922,
Abu Dhabi, UAE.
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General Assembly and Special
Resolution presented at 2024 General
Assembly

The Company held its annual general assembly on Tuesday 26
March 2024. At that meeting, the following special resolutions
were approved (being resolutions passed by shareholders
owning not less than 75% of the shares represented in that
General Assembly):

“Amendment to Article (6) and Article (17) of the Articles of
Association of the Company.”

“The allocation of 1% of the Company’s profits for the financial
year ended 31 December 2023 to provide charitable and
voluntary contributions, and to authorize the Board of
Directors to determine the beneficiaries from that.”

Statement of significant events

The following is a summary of the Company’s key events that
took place in 2024:

« On13February 2024, the Company announced 2023
full-year results with net profit attributable to shareholders
of AED 440 million and a return on average equity of 12.1%.

+  Atthe Company’s annual general assembly on 26 March 2024,
the shareholders approved a 10 fils per share dividend.

+ Atthe Company’s annual general assembly on 26 March
2024, the shareholders approved the re-appointment of
the members of the Board (including the appointment of
Ms. Sanaa Al Ketbi - the first female Board member for the
Company). Following which, the Board re-elected Mr.
Muhairi as Chairman, Mr. Al Dhaheri as Vice-Chairman, and
Mr. Nowais as Managing Director.

« 0On 29 March 2024, the Company reported that Waha
Investment MENA Equity Fund won the EuroHedge 2024
award for best Emerging Markets Equity as the Fund
delivered an impressive 24.3% net return in 2023.

«  On15April 2024, the Company was ranked among Forbes
Middle East’s Top 30 Asset Management Companies 2024 list.

« On 6 May 2024, the Company reported that the Waha
MENA Equity Fund was ranked #1 in the world’s top 50
hedge funds by the 2024 Global Investment Report.

« On 15 May 2024, the Company announced the first-quarter
results with a net profit attributable to shareholders of AED
166 million, representing a year-on-year increase of 121%.

« On 21 May 2024, the Company was selected by the Pan
Finance Awards as the Investment Management Company
of the Year - UAE 2024.

+  On 1August 2024, the Company announced the second-
quarter/H1 results, recording a 21% year-on-year increase
in net profit attributable to shareholders, which reached
AED 205 million.

+ On 12 August 2024, the Company reported that it
successfully refinanced its revolving credit facility with the
support of four prominent local and regional banks. The
new facility is a US$400 million revolving credit facility
with a 3-year term.

+ On 10 October 2024, the Company was awarded Private
Sector Investment House of the Year 2024, and Waha
Emerging Markets (EM) Credit Fund won the Best Emerging
Market Long/Short Fund at the Wealth & Finance
International Fund Awards 2024.

« On 16 October 2024, the Company’s Managing Director
Mr. Mohamed Al Nowais, was featured on Forbes Middle
East’s Sustainability Leaders 2024 list.

«  On5November 2024, the Company announced the third
quarter/9M results, recording net profit attributable to
shareholders of AED 282 million, a 26% year-on-year increase.

+ On 21 November 2024, the Company won two prestigious
awards at the WealthBriefing MENA Awards 2024 - Private
Markets Programme and Private Equity Offering.

« 0On22November 2024, the Waha MENA Equity Fund won
the 2024 Emerging Markets Equity Award by HFM
European Performance Awards.

Statement of major transactions

In 2024, the Company was not involved in any transaction that
was equal to or exceeding 5% of the Company’s share capital.

Emiratisation percentage in Waha as at
31 December 2024

As at the end of 2024, the Company’s emiratisation percentage
was 15%.

The Company works in cooperation with local educational
institutions and relevant government organisations in order to
create long term employment opportunities for UAE Nationals.
Additionally, the Company offers summer internships to UAE
university students, and runs a UAE National graduate
program. The program provides UAE national graduates with a
tailored 18 months’ worth of training and development
through on-the-job rotations, professional qualifications and
external training prior to being hired on a permanent basis.
The Company also offers sponsorship to other UAE national
employees to continue their education while working.

Projects and Initiatives in 2024

As part of the Company’s 2024 CSR budget, the Board set aside
AED 3 million for supporting significant events within the
region (the Significant Event Reserve). AED 1.5 million from
the Significant Event Reserve to support the Emirates Red
Crescent’s “Tarahum for Gaza” and “UAE Stands with
Lebanon” campaigns.
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Waha Capital PJSC (the Company) is a UAE based
public joint stock company that is listed on the
Abu Dhabi Securities Exchange (the ADX).

In accordance with the provisions of the relevant laws and regulations that are applicable to the Company
(including Chairman of Authority’s Board of Directors’ Resolution No. (3 R.M) of 2020 (as amended) (the Corporate
Governance Code) issued by the Securities and Commodities Authority (SCA)), the Company’s Board of Directors
(the Board) has established an audit committee (the Audit Committee) as one of its permanent committees which,
among other things, helps the Board in the discharge of its duties and obligations.

This is the Company’s report on the Audit Committee’s activities for 2024. In this report, we have provided the
Company’s stakeholders with a detailed overview of:

« the Audit Committee (including its function and activities);

« how the Audit Committee fulfils its remit (as required in accordance with all relevant laws, regulations and in
adherence with international best practices); and

« theactions and activities undertaken by the Audit Committee in 2024.

In addition, this report also highlights how the Audit Committee has played and will continue to play a critical role in
ensuring that the Company’s governance framework and internal controls (including its internal financial controls):

« remainin line with and meet the requirements and expectations of the best international standards; and

« are continually improved and enhanced so as to ensure the long-term sustainable success of the Company.
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Overview

3.1. Role and Responsibilities of the

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is a permanent committee of the
Board that assists the Board in discharging its
responsibilities with regard to, among other things,
financial reporting, external and internal audits and
controls.

The Audit Committee does this by:

« overseeing the integrity of and reviewing the
Company’s annual and interim financial statements;

+ developing and applying the policy for contracting
with external auditors;

+ overseeing the relationship with our external auditors;

+ reviewing and monitoring the extent of any
non-audit work undertaken by the external auditors;

« overseeing the qualifications and performance of
the Company’s internal audit, risk and compliance
staff; and

+ reviewing the Company’s financial controls,
internal controls, governance framework and risk
management systems.

The Audit Committee’s terms of reference (which are
reflective of the Corporate Governance Code) (the
Terms of Reference) provide a detailed framework for
the Audit Committee and its activities (which
encapsulate the above). The Terms of Reference are
regularly reviewed and approved by the Board - the
most recent review was undertaken in November 2024.

3.2,

3. Our Audit Committee

Interaction between the Audit
Committee and the Board / other
Permanent Committees

The Audit Committee and the Board
The Audit Committee works with the Board by:

» managing the activities delegated to it by either
the Board or the regulatory framework governing
the Company; and

+ making recommendations to the Board on a
number of key matters (including the review and
approval of the Company’s annual report and
financial statements).

In interacting with the Board, the Audit Committee
gives due consideration to the applicable laws and
regulations of the UAE, SCA and the ADX (including,
without limitation, the Corporate Governance Code).

The Audit Committee and the Risk and
Compliance Committee

In March 2024, the Board established a risk and
compliance committee (as an additional permanent
committee of the Board) (the Risk and Compliance
Committee). The Risk and Compliance Committee has
been established for the purpose of assisting the Board
and the Audit Committee in overseeing the Company’s
enterprise risk management and compliance programs.

The Risk and Compliance Committee coordinates its
activities with the Audit Committee and provides the
Audit Committee with regular updates on all of its
activities and actions (and where relevant endorses
proposed actions and activities for review and
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approval of the Audit Committee). To ensure that the
Risk and Compliance Committee’s actions and
activities properly align with and contribute to the
activities, role and function of the Audit Committee
(and the Company’s wider governance framework), the
following practices have been implemented:

+ inadvance of each Audit Committee meeting,
a meeting of the Risk and Compliance Committee
is held;

+ ateach Audit Committee meeting, a representative
of the Risk and Compliance Committee provides the
Audit Committee with a summary of the Risk and
Compliance Committee’s actions and activities (and
where relevant, a summary of recommendations is
provided to the Audit Committee); and

« one of the members of the Audit Committee
(currently Ms. Sanaa Al Ketbi) also sits as a member
of the Risk and Compliance Committee.

Responsibilities of the Audit
Committee

The Audit Committee plays a critical role in ensuring
strong financial governance, risk management and
compliance within the Company. Its primary responsibilities
(as defined in its Terms of Reference) include:

Financial Reporting:
The Audit Committee is responsible for:

« overseeing and monitoring the integrity of the
Company’s financial statements and any formal
announcements related to the Company’s
financial performance;

« reviewing significant financial reporting judgments
before submission to the Board;

« informing the Board of the outcome of the external
audit and explaining its contribution to financial
reporting integrity; and

+ reviewing the Company’s financial controls,
internal controls and risk management systems to
ensure compliance and operational efficiency.

Controls
The Audit Committee is responsible for:

« developing and applying the policy for contracting
with external auditors;

« overseeing the relationship with the Company’s
external auditors;

« reviewing and monitoring the extent of any
non-audit work undertaken by the Company’s
external auditors;

» overseeing the qualifications and performance of the
Company’s internal audit, risk and compliance staff;

« ensuring strong financial governance, risk
management, and compliance within the Company;

« overseeing the development and implementation
of the Company’s framework for its internal controls
over financial reporting (ICFR) and ensuring that
its ICFR framework aligns with SCA requirements
and the Corporate Governance Code; and

« reviewing the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal controls (including financial controls), risk
management systems and governance framework
(including the controls, systems and frameworks
that are designed to identify, manage, and monitor
financial risks).
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3.4. Committee Members - Background and Experience

We have set out below details of the composition of the Audit Committee and have included details of each member’s
experience, qualifications and their membership and positions in other companies.

Audit Committee Members

Mr. Homaid Al Shimmari
Chairman of the Audit Committee

Mr. Ahmed Al Dhaheri
Member of the Audit Committee

Ms. Sanaa Al Ketbi
Member of the Audit Committee

Independent Non-executive Director %)

Non-executive Director @

Independent Non-executive Director

W Within the meaning of independent as provided for by the Corporate Governance Code.
@ Mr. Ahmed Al Dhaheri is not considered independent as he has held his position as a Director of the Company for more than 3

consecutive terms.

Background / Experience [/ Qualifications

Mr. Homaid Al Shimmari
Chairman of the Audit Committee

Experience

Mr. Al Shimmari is the Deputy Group CEO and Chief Corporate
& Human Capital Officer in Mubadala. He has oversight of
Mubadala’s Business Services, Enterprise Technology Services,
Government Affairs, Construction Management Services,
Employee Career Growth, Talent Acquisition, Learning and
Development, Performance Management and Emiratization.

Prior to the merger of Mubadala Development Company and
International Petroleum Investment Company (IPIC),

Mr. Al Shimmari was the CEO of the Aerospace and
Engineering Services platform in Mubadala. His main focus
was driving the strategic vision and plans for developing
technologically advanced industries within Abu Dhabi and the
UAE, in addition to ensuring Mubadala is well positioned to
become a key global aerospace, ICT and Defence player.

Mr. Al Shimmari is the Chairman of Maximus Air Cargo and a
board Member of Abu Dhabi Aviation. He is also a Member of
the board of Trustees for UAE University and Khalifa University
of Science, Technology and Research.

Mr. Al Shimmari is the Chairman of SolutionsPlus (Formerly
BMS) and has been a board member at FAB since January
2023 as well as a board member at Abu Dhabi Investment
Council (ADIC).

Qualifications

Mr. Al Shimmari holds a Bachelor of Science in Aeronautical
Engineering from Embry Riddle Aeronautical University, USA.
He holds a black belt in Six Sigma from General Electric, a
highly disciplined leadership program.
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AL
Mr. Ahmed Al Dhaheri
Member of the Audit Committee

Experience

Mr. Al Dhaheri is the Honorary Chairman of Ali and Sons
Holdings LLC and the Chairman of Hily Holdings PJSC. He is the
founder and Chairman of AAK Investment - Sole Proprietorship
LLC and is also the founder of Green Motors U.A.E.

Qualifications

Mr. Al Dhaheri is a Certified Public Accountant in California and
holds a bachelor’s degree in accounting from Seattle Pacific
University, Washington, USA. Mr. Al Dhaheri also holds a Higher
Diploma in Business Administration (specialising in accounting)
from the Higher Colleges of Technology, Abu Dhabi UAE.

Ms. Sanaa Al Ketbi
Member of the Audit Committee

Experience

Ms. Al Ketbi is the Chief Executive Officer of RDK Group. She
served as a board member of Al Wathba National Insurance
Company PJSC from 2021 to 2024.

Ms. Al Ketbi previously served as Associate Director - Hedge
Funds at National Bank of Abu Dhabi and also served as
Investment Associate of the Emirates Investment Authority.

Qualifications

Ms. Al Ketbi holds a Bachelor of Business Science from Zayed
University, UAE. Ms. Al Ketbi also holds the CFA designation.
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3.5. Audit Committee membership requirements
What are the Audit Committee membership requirements?
The Audit Committee’s Terms of Reference (which are reflective of the Corporate Governance Code) require that:
« the Audit Committee comprises of at least three (and not more than five) non executive Directors;

« atleast two of the Audit Committee members are independent Directors (with the Chairman of the Audit Committee
being one of the independent Directors); and

+ allmembers have knowledge in financial and accounting matters (with at least one member having practical
experience in accounting or finance and having a university degree or professional certificate in accounting or finance
(or another relevant field)).

How these requirements were fulfilled in 2024

Requirement Fulfilled (Yes / No) Details
Minimum of 3 and maximum of 5 Yes At all times during 2024, the Audit
(all non-executive Directors) Committee consisted of 3 non-

executive Directors

At least 2 members must be Yes At all times during 2024, 2 out of the 3
independent Directors Audit Committee members were
independent Directors

The Chairman of the Audit Yes At all times during 2024, the Chairman
Committee must be an of the Audit Committee was an
independent Director independent Director

All members must have the Yes All 3 Audit Committee members fulfil
requisite knowledge and skill this requirement

Details of the members’ backgrounds
are provided above

At least one member must have Yes All 3 Audit Committee members fulfil
requisite practical experience and this requirement

a degree or professional certificate
in a relevant field

Details of the members’ backgrounds
are provided above

3.6. Yearly Evaluation and 2024 Results

Each year, a comprehensive evaluation of the performance of the Audit Committee and its members is undertaken by the
Company. This evaluation is led by the Nomination & Remuneration Committee (and specifically, its chairman) and the
results are provided to the Board.

For 2024, the yearly evaluation was undertaken in early 2025. The key findings were:
« the Audit Committee’s performance in 2024 was effective; and

« the Audit Committee (and its members) fulfilled its role and function (as further detailed in the Audit Committee’s
Terms of Reference).
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4. 2024 Activities
and Results

4.1. Meetings Held
In 2024, the Audit Committee met four times. Details of those meetings (including attendance records of those meetings)

are contained in the table below.

> 3

3 - :

5 5 E 5

. L. . . L = — =

Committee Member Position in Committee o ~ ™ <

Mr. Homaid Al Shimmari Chairman P P P P

Mr. Ahmed Al Dhaheri Member P P A P

Ms. Sanaa Al Ketbi ¥ Member N/A P P P
Mr. Rashed Al Ketbi Member P N/A N/A N/A

P - Present, A - Absent

(1) Appointed on 26 March 2024
(2) Member until 26 March 2024

In addition to the scheduled Audit Committee meetings listed above, members of the Audit Committee held a number of
separate workshops with members of management - the primary purpose of these workshops was to enable the
members of the Audit Committee to review proposed updates to key policies and procedures (and to provide their
comments and feedback) so the final policies and procedures could be presented to the Audit Committee for formal

endorsement and implementation.



4.2,

Audit Committee Report for 2024

Main activities undertaken and tasks
accomplished in 2024

In 2024, the Audit Committee undertook the following
activities and accomplished the following tasks:

Financial Reporting: the Audit Committee:

« oversaw the preparation and audit of the
Company’s financial statements (i.e. the financial
statements for each quarter as well as yearly);

« reviewed (and, where relevant) challenged
management’s approach in order to ensure that
the Company’s financial statements provided a
true and fair view of the Company’s assets,
liabilities, financial position and profit or loss;

« oversaw and monitored the integrity of the
Company’s financial statements (including by
confirming with (a) management that they were
not aware of any material or immaterial
misstatements made intentionally to achieve a
particular presentation; and (b) the external
auditor that it was not aware of any material or
immaterial misstatements throughout its work;

« oversaw and monitored the integrity of the
Company’s announcements made with respect to
the Company’s financial performance (as detailed
in the Company’s financial statements);

+ reviewed all significant financial reporting
judgments that had been made in the Company’s
financial statements before they were submitted to
the Board for approval; and

« informed the Board of the outcome of the external
audit process for the Company’s financial
statements and provided its recommendations
with respect to the proposed approval of those
financial statements by the Board.

External Audit Activities: the Audit Committee:

« performed an annual assessment of the quality
of audit services received by the Company’s
external auditor;

« reviewed and approved the annual audit plan for 2024;

« reviewed and endorsed the proposed re-
appointment of the Company’s external auditor for
2024 (including by reviewing and assessing the
proposed external audit fees for 2024);

« oversaw the relationship with the Company’s
external auditor throughout 2024;

« ensured it has access to the Company’s external
auditor without management so as to ensure the
integrity of the external auditor’s work and findings;

+ obtained written confirmation from the Company’s
external auditor (on a quarterly basis) affirming
compliance with independence guidelines issued
by relevant accountancy and auditing bodies; and

« managed and oversaw a tender process for the
proposed appointment of a new external auditor
for the Company from 2025 onwards.

Note: the Company’s external auditor concluded its
6th consecutive year as the Company’s external
auditor in 2024. Under the relevant laws and
regulations, the external auditor is not eligible for
re-appointmentin 2025.

Internal Audit Activities:

reviewed and approved the internal audit strategy,
annual internal audit work plan and budget;

provided oversight for the evolution of the internal
audit function and framework;

oversaw the internal audit program, its performance
and the assurance reviews undertaken by the
internal audit function;

monitored and oversaw the relevant remediation
plans that were put in place by the Company’s
management to ensure that any deficiencies
identified in the internal audit function’s assurance
reviews were properly addressed;

ensured that the internal audit function had all
necessary resources and access to all necessary
information; and

obtained written confirmation from the head of the
Company’s internal audit function (on an annual
basis) affirming the function’s independence (as
required by the relevant guidelines).

Internal Control Systems (including internal
financial controls): the Audit Committee:

.
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provided oversight for and monitored the
Company’s internal control system;

oversaw an external review of the Company’s ICFR
framework (the findings from which were used to
implement a number of upgrades to the
Company’s ICFR framework);

provided oversight for the evolution of the
Corporation’s risk management and internal
control system;

facilitated the Company’s compliance with ethical
standards and regulatory requirements;

reviewed and monitored the Company’s cyber
security risk management strategies;

made recommendations for updates and upgrades
to the Company’s internal control systems
(including by endorsing policy and procedure
amendments for implementation by the
Company’s management) - including by making
recommendations for changes to policies and
procedures falling within the Company’s risk
framework and compliance framework; and

provided support to and oversight for the Risk and
Compliance Committee (including by having
quarterly reports provided to it from the Risk and
Compliance Committee).

Governance Framework: the Audit Committee:

provided oversight for the Company’s governance
framework; and

made recommendations for updates and upgrades
to the Company’s governance framework
(including by endorsing policy and procedure
amendments for approval by the Board and
implementation by the Company’s management).
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5. ADDITIONAL
Information

For additional information regarding the Company’s governance framework, internal
control system and overall control environment, please see the Company’s 2024
Corporate Governance Report (published together with this report).

In addition, the Company’s Investor Relations department regularly publishes news
and insights on its website and across social media to ensure that investors are
regularly updated on the Company’s performance.

Additional information can be found in the investor relations section of the website at
https://www.wahacapital.com/investor-relations/

11
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This Report reflects Waha Capital’'s commitment to advance
a sustainability agenda and support the UAE’s leading role
in the region in addressing climate change.
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As aleading financial
services firm, we
recognise the role
we can play to
accelerate the UAE’s
visionary strategy
for decarbonisation,
diversification and
social inclusion.

Mohamed Hussain Al Nowais




Introduction

1.1. Introduction (purpose, scope, data
source and integrity, external
assurance, contact information)

This is the 2024 sustainability report (the Report) of Waha
Capital PJSC (the Company). The Report reflects the
Company’s will and commitment to advance a sustainability
agenda and support the UAE’s leading role in the region in
addressing climate change.

This Report fulfils the Company’s reporting requirements
under the Abu Dhabi Securities Exchange (ADX) Rules for
Listed Companies and has been developed in accordance

with the ADX ESG Disclosure Guidance for Listed Companies.

Furthermore, this Report reflects international objectives as
provided by the United Nations Sustainable Development
Goals (UN SDGs) as well as the Global Reporting Initiative

(GRI) standards. To that end, the Company’s ESG performance

data has been collected and analysed in relation to the
relevant UN SDGs and GRI indicators, as recommended by
the ADX ESG Disclosure Guidance for Listed Companies and
displayed in the Appendix to this Report.

For any further information on this Report please contact
us via communications@wahacapital.ae
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THE GLOBAL GOALS

For Sustainable Development
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In 2025, we

will continue

to collaborate
closely with key
stakeholders,
particularly partners
and regulators, to
expedite the crucial
efforts required

to address global
warming.

Mohamed Hussain Al Nowais
Managing Director, Waha Capital

1.2. Message from the Managing Director

The Company is proud to have elevated its
commitment to sustainability in 2024.

As a leading financial services firm, we recognise the
role we can play to accelerate the UAE’s visionary
strategy for decarbonisation, diversification and social
inclusion.

In 2024, sustainability continued to be tightly knit
into our corporate strategy. Throughout the year, we
implemented an enhanced sustainability strategy
aimed at guaranteeing that our business expansion
aligns with sustainable practices.

The report outlines our progress in promoting
sustainable practices. This includes our active

support of the Abu Dhabi Sustainable Finance Agenda
Declaration (as a signatory to the declaration),

which underscores our commitment to advancing
sustainability and climate finance not only in Abu Dhabi
and the UAE but also across the broader region.

In 2025, we will continue to collaborate closely with key
stakeholders, particularly partners and regulators, to
expedite the crucial efforts required to address global
warming.
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The Company

2.1. General Information

The Company is an Abu Dhabi based, ADX-listed
investment management company that leverages its
emerging markets expertise, business networks and
research capabilities to deliver attractive returns to
shareholders and investors in its funds.

Founded in 1997, the Company is one of the
Emirate’s leading private sector investment houses,
providing a world-class platform for investment and
growth. The Company has a long-established track
record of investing in public and private markets,
deploying proprietary capital in alignment with
third-party investors.

The company counts Mubadala Investment
Company as an anchor shareholder, placing it at the
forefront of Abu Dhabi’s increasingly dynamic and
entrepreneurial ecosystem, positioning it to create
long-term value for shareholders, fund investors,
employees, and communities.

The Company and the funds managed by one
of its subsidiaries operate in a robust UAE and
international regulatory environment. We follow
international best practice in risk management,
disclosure and reporting, while employing
disciplined investment processes with rigorous
oversight.

Headquartered in Abu Dhabi, a source of financial
strength and stability, the Company benefits

from close relationships with the Emirate’s major
institutions and its global network of business
connections and partnerships. The Company
embraces world-class governance practices that
shareholders and third-party investors demand from
a publicly listed investment company.

iAbu Dhabi

Our purpose is to
consistently deliver strong
and steady returns to

our shareholders and

Investment partners.

The Company’s purpose is to consistently deliver
strong and steady returns to its shareholders and
investment partners. It is focused on building scale,
delivering high quality earnings and providing
excellence in client services.

Our people are at the core of the value that we create
for ourinvestors. Each individual plays a critical role
in the Company, and together, synergies are created
and results are delivered. We are focused, tenacious,
and performance driven. We value hard work,
collaboration, and achievement.

We invest in the growth and development of
our people by equipping them with the most
appropriate tools through upskilling and training.

As a key private sector playerin Abu Dhabi, we
champion local talent in the financial sector.

For further information on the Company, please
visit www.wahacapital.com.




2.2. OurVision and Mission

The Company views sustainability in comprehensive
terms. We are committed to ensuring that our
organisation remains resilient, future-proof and
sustainable, while serving the interests of all our
stakeholders and the communities we operate in.

We are committed

to ensuring that our
organisation remains
resilient, future-proof
and sustainable.

The Company’s performance and future
developmentis closely aligned with the UAE’s
strategy for a sustainable and diversified

economy that is progressively less dependent on
hydrocarbons. In this respect, we support the UAE’s
overarching strategies such as ‘UAE Green Agenda
2015-2030’, ‘UAE’s 2030 Agenda for Sustainable
Development’, 'UAE Energy Strategy 2050’ and
the most recent ‘UAE Pathway to Net Zero by
2050’ which sets the timeframe and identifies the
mechanisms of implementing the UAE Net Zero by
2050 Strategic Initiative, introduced in 2021.

The Company is a key part of Abu Dhabi’s growing
financial services sector and is aligned to all of Abu
Dhabi’s long-term policy plans, especially with ‘Abu
Dhabi Vision 2030’ which sets the framework to

build a sustainable and diversified, high value-added
economy with more high-valued opportunities for its
citizens and residents.
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Furthermore, the Company fully supports the UAE’s
Securities and Commodities Authority’s Master

Plan for Sustainable Markets that was developed to
contribute to a more stable and resilient financial
system. In support of its commitment, the Company
has become a voluntary member of the Abu Dhabi
Sustainable Finance Declaration (further details of
which are contained in the report).

Coupled with this, we are continuing to dedicate
more time and effort to training employees on
sustainability issues, trends, relevant best-practices
and sustainable finance.
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Achievements

3.1. Sustainability Program

The Company has adopted a comprehensive
Sustainability Policy (the Sustainability Policy) to
regulate its approach to building a competitive and
resilient business while meeting core environmental,
social and governance (ESG) tenets and contributing
to the sustainable development of the communities
in which the Company operates.

In tandem to the Company’s Sustainability Policy,
the Company has also implemented a related
sustainability program that is focused on:

« ensuring out existing policies are
comprehensive and up-to-date while also
implementing new ESG related policies and
processes where needed;

+ seeking out new initiatives that will enhance
the Company’s approach to corporate social
responsibility; and

« delivering ESG-related training and
communication for the Company’s
employees.

3.2. Sustainability Policy

Our Sustainability Policy sets out general guidelines
to direct the Company’s approach to sustainability
and represents the Company’s first step to
incorporate ESG into its performance and decision
making. This Sustainability Policy has been adopted
with the goal of:

« aligning the Company’s performance
with the highest standards of corporate
governance that meet the principles of
social and environmental responsibility;

« defining specific areas of focus and creating
internal governance structures for the
implementation of the Sustainability Policy;

« enhancingintegrity and accountability in
the collection and management of relevant
data on our environmental and social
impacts including transparency in public
sharing;

« ensuring the health, safety, well-being
and development of our people,
while promoting diversity and equal
opportunities; and

« contributing to the sustainable
development of the communities in which
we operate.

The Company has also implemented a set of group
level ESG related policies covering;

« Diversity, Equity and Inclusion;

« Anti-harassment and Bullying;

+ Anti-slavery and Human Trafficking;
o Child Labor; and

« Human Rights.

Further details of these policies are contained in
Chapter 5 of this Report.



3.3. Abu Dhabi Sustainable
Finance Declaration

The Company is a signatory to the Abu Dhabi
Sustainable Finance Agenda Declaration, a
voluntary membership-based initiative launched
by the Abu Dhabi Global Market (ADGM) under the
patronages of the Ministry of Climate Change and
Environment, the Central Bank and the Securities
and Commaodities Authority.

Waha Capital is a
signatory to the Abu
Dhabi Sustainable Finance
Agenda Declaration.

Through this membership, the Company has
positioned itself to be able to work with the ADGM
(and other signatories of the declaration) to move
forward the Sustainable Finance Agenda and to
promote sustainability and climate finance in Abu
Dhabi, the UAE and the wider region.

3.4. Active participation on the global
and local level

During 2024, representatives of the Company
participated in and contributed to numerous events
and workshops in order to:

« network with like-minded financial
institutions and other stakeholders; and

« benefit from emerging innovative business
opportunities in both the UAE and
internationally.

These events included:

« Abu Dhabi Finance Week

« Super Return Middle East

 FT Live Future of Asset Management
« CMS Abu Dhabi Private Markets

« Grant Thorton’s International Women’s Day




3.5. Corporate Social
Responsibility (CSR)

The Company places a high priority on its corporate
social responsibility. Accordingly, in 2024, in addition
to the Company’s ongoing and historical CSR
initiatives, it participated in several initiatives that
have continued to enhance its CSR footprint.

We participated in several
initiatives that have
continued to enhance its
CSR footprint.

2024 CSR Commitment

In accordance with the Company’s commitment to
develop and expand its CSR footprint in the UAE and
the wider region, shareholders at the Company’s
2024 Annual General Assembly, approved a
resolution giving the Board of Directors of the
Company the authority to utilise up to 1% of the
Company’s 2023 net profits for CSR initiatives.

Donations to Emirates Red Crescent

In 2024, the Company donated AED 1.5 million to
the Emirates Red Cresent through the “Tarahum for
GAZA” and “UAE Stands with Lebanon” campaigns.
The donation provided aid packages including food
and children’s supplies.




Scholarship Program

In 2024, the Company officially launched its
scholarship program and started to actively promote
it. Under the program, the Company will finance the
costs of tuition, living expenses and other associated
costs of one student per year for the full term of that
student’s university undergraduate course.

In 2024, we officially
launched and actively
promoted our scholarship
program.

The scholarship program is open to UAE nationals
and residents of the UAE and is granted on the

basis of the applicant’s academic excellence and
financial needs. The program is aimed at students
who wish to study a degree in finance, mathematics
or economics. Following graduation, scholarship
students will be offered the opportunity to work with
the Company.

WAHA CAPITALE

Waha Land - Ramadan Initiative

In 2024, the Company’s subsidiary Waha Land
successfully completed its yearly Ramadan initiative
under which, the members of staff and their families
and friends personally package and deliver food
boxes to the less fortunate in the Emirate of Abu
Dhabi.

All elements of planning, packaging and delivery
logistics take place at Waha Land’s offices with each
box containing enough food to sustain a family of
four for up to two weeks.

For 2024, Waha Land’s Ramadan initiative resulted
in over 500 food boxes being delivered to those in
need throughout the Emirate of Abu Dhabi.
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Environmental Standards

Performance

4.1. Energy Use and Greenhouse Gas
Emissions - Carbon Footprint

Given the relatively small-scale nature of the
Company’s operations, the Company has not
established a specific policy aimed at addressing

its energy consumption or its energy reduction.
However, the Company believes that improvements
can be made in relation to its energy-saving
measures and practices, in line with the UAE’s
strategic shift towards renewable sources of power.

Office Energy Consumption Mix

&

ooog
Solar Gas Nuclear
6% 40% 53%

The Company’s main source of energy in its
administrative office is electricity, in line with
the energy policy of the office building from
which it operates. In that regard, the energy mix
supplied by the building is divided between

approximately 6% solar, 40% gas and 53% nuclear.

Energy consumption of the offices in 2024 was
approximately 184,339kWH.

We have implemented
measures that contribute
to energy reduction, such
as weekly working from
home days.

To address the Company’s total energy usage

(with the aim of reducing its energy consumption
footprint), the Company has implemented measures
that contribute to energy reduction, such as weekly
working from home days (which are usually taken
by the majority of employees on Fridays and

which reduces the overall electricity and water
consumption) and movement detection lighting for
low usage areas (as well as the main office areas for
after office hours working).

In terms of direct carbon emissions, the Company
owns and maintains two vehicles that, in 2024,
consumed approximately 5,100 litres of petrol.
Based only on the amount of petrol used

and the model, type, and the age of the cars
direct carbon emissions from the Company’s

cars were approximately 11,781kg of CO2
(5.100%2.31=11.781).




4.2. Water Consumption

Owing to the relatively small-scale nature of the
Company’s operations, the Company has not
established a specific policy aimed at addressing
water consumption reduction, water reusage or
water recycling. However, the Company does not
have overall excessive water consumption, limited
only to the regular office consumption of the
employees.

In 2024, the cost of water consumption was paid
directly to the landlord, in advance together with the
rent, calculated per square meter of the space and
was estimated to be in the amount of 3,500 running
hours/year.

| 4.3. Waste Management

In line with its environmental management goals,
the Company seeks to address waste management
and is committed to implementing improvement
measures, including the reduction of plastic waste
and single-use plastic items.

We continue to carry

out numerous activities
and have implemented
measures to reduce office
I'T waste.

In other areas of waste management, the Company
continues to carry out numerous activities and has
implemented measures to reduce office IT waste,
while best practice is applied with regards to the
management of electrical and electronical waste.
Forexample, IT wastepaper is treated as general
paper waste, shredded, and disposed of by a third-
party provider. Toners are replaced and disposed in
the designated bin for such waste products.

For the purpose of paper waste reduction, all
printers are configured by default to print on

both sides and it is at the discretion of the user to
explicitly stipulate single-side printing for special
audiences or purposes.

Waste management is conducted through a
professional agency, which disposes of electronic
products after clearing material data. Such agencies
are appointed by the Government as the competent
authority for responsible waste management.
Whenever possible, the Company trades in old
equipment after clearing them of data.

| 4.4. AirQuality

In 2024, the Company sought to address the issue of
indoor air quality by installing air purifiers in its office
spaces, which has greatly improved air quality.

Investments in Climate Related
Infrastructure/Projects, Resilience,
and Product Development

4.5.

While the funds managed by the group invest in
various products and securities (which may include
companies focusing on these areas), in 2024, the
Company did not directly make any investments into
climate related infrastructure or projects.
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Social Standards
Performance

5.1. Gender Diversity

In line with the Company’s diversity and inclusion
policy, the Company:

« actively encourages and supports diversity,
equity and inclusion;

« actively promotes a culture that values
difference and eliminates discrimination in
the workplace; and

« iscommitted to maintaining a workplace
culture that values and promotes diversity,
equity and inclusivity by recognising
differences and having a varied range of
people in the workforce.

In 2024, the Company continued to take steps to
promote gender diversity such that, as at the end of
2024, the overall gender balance for its employees
was 66% male and 34% female (a significant
increase from 2023 in which the ratio was 71% male
and 29% female).

Gender Diversity (%)

Male Female

5.2. Gender Equality

Gender equality is guaranteed by the Company’s
overarching principles in its policies and is effectively
implemented in practice.

The ratio of the male compensation to female
compensation in 2024 was almost equal (1:1) based
on similar roles within the Company. In addition,
working hours and travel/ leave conditions,
including for parental leave, are equally guaranteed
to both female and male employees in the same
amounts in accordance with the UAE Labour Law.

Gender Compensation Ratio

Male Female




5.3. Incentives and Remuneration

The Company provides its employees with
competitive salaries and benefits (including medical,
accident and life insurance as well as educational
assistance for employees and their dependents).

In addition, the Company provides a number of
non-financial incentives for its employees. These
include employee recognition schemes, social
and wellbeing programs and opportunities for
participating in corporate events and volunteer
projects.

The pay ratio for the Company’s Managing Director
is in line with industry standards and all employees
are compensated fairly and in line with the market.
Furthermore, senior executive remuneration

is reported annually in the Company’s annual
Corporate Governance Report.

5.4. Non-discrimination Policy

The Company has a non-discrimination policy
which prohibits any form of discrimination based on
characteristics relating to ethnicity, religion, gender
or age.

5.5. Anti-harassment and
Bullying Policy

The Company has an anti-harassment and bullying
policy that regulates the Company’s commitment to
providing a working environment that is free from
harassment and bullying and which ensures that all
of the Company’s employees are treated, and treat
others, with dignity and respect.

5.6. Anti-slavery and Human
Trafficking Policy

The Company is committed to conducting its
business practices in a legal and ethical manner,
adding value to the communities in which it
operates. The Company has adopted an anti-
slavery and human trafficking policy that outlines
its commitment to implementing and enforcing
effective systems and controls to ensure modern
slavery in any form, including human trafficking is
not taking place anywhere in our own businesses or
in any of our supply chains.

5.7. Turnover Ratio

The Company had an annual turnover ratio of 10%
in 2024, through dismissal, retirement, job transition
or death.

We are committed to
conducting our business
practices in a legal and

ethical manner.



5.8. Emiratisation Rate

The Company is fully committed to providing
meaningful and rewarding career opportunities

to UAE Nationals. In close alignment with the
Government, the Company operates a merit-based
system that fast-tracks UAE National development
into positions of responsibility, with a focus on the
development of investment and asset management
professionals.

The Company’s 2024 “Nationalisation Criteria”
was assessed to be average, with UAE National
employees accounting for 15% of the Company’s
total employees as at the end of 2024.

We are fully committed
to providing meaningful
and rewarding career
opportunities to UAE
Nationals.

Emiratisation Rate (%)

Non-UAE UAE

5.9. Health & Safety and Injury Rate

The Company’s Occupational Health & Safety Policy
remains in place and has been fully implemented.
The policy is reviewed annually and is regularly
updated. In terms of injury at work, there were no
incidents reported in 2024.

5.10. Whistle-Blowers

The Company has an open approach to
whistleblowing and a strong commitment to whistle-
blower protection. The Company has adopted a
whistle-blower policy (which is reviewed at least

on an annual basis). Employees are encouraged

to report any concerns on any potential breach of
law immediately. To ensure that potential whistle-
blowers are able to report any concerns, the
Company has a designated whistle-blower “hot line”.
In 2024, one whistleblowing report was recorded in
the compliance risk registry of the Company.

Whistle-blower protection measures are also in
place, and they include a non-retaliation provisions
that apply to people who report an incident, make
a complaint, or express a concern about a legal
violation or other misconduct. Our whistle-blower
policy also protects those who review or investigate
a complaint or concern, serve as a witness, or give
background information regarding the complaint or
issue.



5.11. Child Labour

The Company is committed to ensuring that it does
not take part in any form of child exploitation. In
furtherance of this commitment, the Company has
adopted and implemented a child a labour policy.

5.12. Human Rights

Respect for human rights is a fundamental value

for the Company as it acknowledges the significant
impact that business has on the realisation of

basic human rights in society. In this respect, the
Company has zero tolerance for human rights
violations and expects everyone in its value chain
to ensure the same strict compliance and respect for
human rights.

In furtherance of this commitment, the Company
has adopted and implemented a human rights
policy that focuses on the protection of business-
related values including rights of workers, rights of
local communities, rights to education and data
privacy rights.

5.13. Access to Education and
Life-long Learning

The Company employs effective measures related
to access to education and life-long learning for
employees, ranging from financial support to
paid business leave days for the purpose of study.
Moreover, the Company is fully committed to
attract, recruit, train, and retain talent, especially
UAE Nationals. Prospective candidates are offered
the option to be sponsored for training in order
to qualify as a Certified Financial Analyst (CFA)

or equivalent or to pursue a Master’s degree at a
reputable university.

5.14. Community Investments

As outlined above in the CSR section of this Report,
in 2024, the Company sought to make positive
impacts in the communities in which it operates.
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Governance Standards

Performance

6.1. Independence and Diversity
of Board Members

The Company’s Board comprises nine Directors
who were elected by the General Assembly at the
Company’s annual general meeting that was held
on 26 March 2024. Eight Directors are non-executive
directors with seven Directors being independent.
Each Director has the requisite knowledge, skills and
expertise required to enable our Board to efficiently
and effectively perform its functions.

On 26 March 2024, Ms. Sanaa Al Ketbi was elected to
the Company’s Board of Directors and accordingly
there is currently one female member of the Board,
in compliance with the SCA’s corporate governance
rules.

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association,
each Director serves for a term of three years and
may be re-elected to serve successive terms at the
end of each three-year term.

WAHA CAPITAL

Ethics and Prevention
of Corruption

6.2.

Rules on ethics and the prevention of corruption
are established in the Company’s Code of Conduct,
as well as in the Company’s Anti-bribery and
Corruption policy and Gifts & Entertainment policy.
Employees in positions of authority are expected to
make ethics and integrity a priority in their actions
and conduct.

Furthermore, the Company ensures that any
reported cases of non-ethical behaviour and non-
compliance are investigated, reported, and resolved
through the appropriate authorities, and that
proper records are maintained. The Company has
also established a zero-tolerance policy on bribery,
corruption, and fraud in accordance with UAE and
other applicable laws. Compliance with these
policies is promoted and reinforced annually via
training and employee declarations.




6.3. Code of Conduct

The Company’s code of conduct promotes

its commitment to the highest standards of
professional and equitable behavior in everything
that it does. Principally, the code sets out:

 the minimum standard of personal conduct
that the Company expects from anyone
working for, or on behalf of, the Company;
and

 aclearand concise suite of rules and
standards that have been developed to
cater for a business environment that is
ethical, non-discriminatory, compliant and
in adherence with the Company’s principal
values.

The Code also includes guidelines that ensure

that all employees are aware of their personal
responsibility to themselves and others in their daily
activities, giving due consideration to the prevention
of accidents, harm to health, environmental
damage, or negative community impacts. The

Code applies to all employees and representatives,
including secondees. All contractors, suppliers, and
business partners of the Company are also expected
to comply with the Code in their business dealings
with the Company.

To ensure the integrity of the Company’s sourcing
process for goods and services, the Company has
policies and procedures in place. Forinstance,
tenders for goods and services are conducted in an
open and transparent manner and suppliers are
chosen fairly based on merit.

6.4. Data Privacy

The Company values the privacy of people’s
personal information, especially that of its
employees. In this respect, all personal records
are accessible only to those who have been
appropriately authorised and on a need-to-know
basis.

We value the privacy
of people’s personal
information, especially
that of its employees.

The Company has adopted a data privacy policy that
is effectively implemented and which is reviewed

yearly.

Please note that the General Data Protection
Regulation (GDPR) rules on data privacy are not
implemented as they currently do not apply to the
Company’s operations. Rather, the Company follows
all data protection laws and regulations that are
applicable to it.

6.5. Sustainable Reporting

This report is the Company’s fourth Sustainability
report. In accordance with its ongoing corporate
governance obligations, the Company will continue
to report on its annual ESG practices, policies and
procedures.

The Company has not published any other relevant
sustainability data or used sustainability reporting
frameworks such as GRI, CDP, SASB, IIRC or UNGC.
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ESG Metrics
SDG Correlation Table

in compliance with ADX GUIDANCE

Environment

METRIC

E1. GHG Emissions

E2. Emissions Intensity

E3. Energy Usage

E4. Energy Intensity

ES5. Energy Mix

E6. Water Usage

E7. Environmental
Operations

E8. Environmental
Oversight

E9. Environmental
Oversight

E10. Climate Risk
Mitigation

CALCULATION

E1.1) Total amount in CO2 equivalents, for
Scope 1

E1.2) Total amount, in CO2 equivalents, for
Scope 2 (if applicable)

E1.3) Total amount, in CO2 equivalents, for
Scope 3 (if applicable

E2.1) Total GHG emissions per output
scaling factor

E2.2) Total non-GHG emissions per output
scaling factor

E3.1) Total amount of energy directly
consumed

E3.2) Total amount of energy
indirectly consumed

Total direct energy usage per output scaling
factor

Percentage: Energy usage by generation
type

E6.1) Total amount of water Consumed

E6.2) Total amount of water reclaimed

E7.1) Does your Company follow a
formal Environmental Policy?

E7.2) Does your Company follow
specific waste, water, energy, and/or
recycling policies?

E7.3) Does your Company use a
recognised energy management
system?

Does your Management Team oversee and/
or manage sustainability issues?

Does your Board oversee and/or
manage sustainability issues?

Total amount invested, annually,
in climate-related infrastructure,
resilience, and product development

CORRESPONDING GRI
STANDARD

GRI 305: Emissions 2016

GRI 305: Emissions 2016

GRI 302: Energy 2016

GRI302: Energy 2016

GRI 302: Emissions 2016

GRI303: Water and
Effluents 2018

GRI 2: General Disclosures
2021

GRI 2: General Disclosures
2021

GRI 2: General Disclosures
2021

18 v

L P4

13 fov

L& 4

12 cromem

QO

12 comuenn
ANDPRODUCTION

QO

CLEANWATER
AND SANTTATIO!

v

12 cosmem,

QO

12 corm

QO

P

QO

13 o

L P4

CORRESPONDING SDG

DECENT WORK AND
ECONOMICRONTH

o

Scope 1 - direct carbon emissions from the Company’s
car were app 11,781 kg of CO2

Scope 2 - not calculated
For more detail, please see page No. 17

N/A

Energy consumption of the offices in 2024 was
approximately 184,339kWH.

For more detail, please see page No. 17

The total energy usage per output scaling is assessed
to be high, considering the office space and number of
employees

For more detail, please see page No. 17

Energy mix supplied by the building is divided between
6% solar, 40% gas and 53% nuclear, as sourced through
the national grid.

For more detail, please see page No. 17
Data on the amount of the consumed water are

unavailable and are assessed by the office building
management.

No policy or relevant measures in place on water
consumption

For more detail, please see page No. 18

No policy or relevant measures are in place
For more detail, please see page No. 18

No policy or relevant measures are in place
For more detail, please see page No. 18

Yes

For more detail, please see page No. 18

No relevant investments recorded in 2024



Social

METRIC

S1. CEO Pay Ratio

S2. Gender Pay Ratio

S3. Employee Turnover

S4. Gender Diversity

S5. Temporary Worker
Ratio

S6. Non-Discrimination

S7. Injury Rate

S8. Global Health & Safety

S9. Child & Forced Labour

$10. Human Rights

S11. Nationalisation

$12. Community
Investment

CALCULATION

S1.1) Ratio: CEO total compensation
to median FTE total compensation

S1.2) Does your Company Report this metric
in regulatory filings?

Ratio: Median male compensation to
median female compensation

$3.1) Percentage: Year-over-year
change for full-time employees

$3.2) Percentage: Year-over-year
change for part-time employees

$3.3) Percentage: Year-over-year

change for contractors/consultants

S4.1) Percentage: Total enterprise
headcount held by men and women

S4.2) Percentage: Entry- and

midlevel positions held by men and women

$4.3) Percentage: Senior- and
executive-level positions held by men and
women

$5.1) Percentage: Total enterprise
headcount held by part-time employees

$5.2) Percentage: Total enterprise
headcount held by contractors and/or
consultants

Does your Company follow a
Non-discrimination policy?

Percentage: Frequency of injury
events relative to total workforce time

Does your Company follow an

occupational health and/or global health &
safety policy?

$9.1) Does your Company follow a child and/
or forced labour policy?

$9.2) If yes, does your child and/

or forced labour policy also cover suppliers
and vendors?

$10.1) Does your Company follow a
human rights policy?

Percentage of the national employees

Amount invested in the community, as a
percentage of Company revenues.

CORRESPONDING GRI
STANDARD

GRI 2: General Disclosures
2021

GRI 405: Diversity and
Equal Opportunity 2016

GRI401: Employment
2016

GRI 2: General Disclosures
2021

GRI 405: Diversity and
Equal Opportunity 2016

GRI 2: General
Disclosures
2021

GRI 3: Material Topics 202

GRI 403: Occupational
Health and Safety 2018

GRI 3: Material Topics 2021

GRI 3: Material Topics 2021

GRI 3: Material Topics 2021

GRI 2: General Disclosures
2021

GRI 413: Local
Communities 2016
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CORRESPONDING SDG

DECENT WORK AND
ECONOMICGRONTH

DECENT WORK AND
ECONOMICGROWTH

o

16 e snee
ANDSTRONG
INSTITUTIONS

Y,

10 faue
INEQUALITIES

-
=)
v

16 [ usree
ANDSTRONG
INTITUTIONS

Y,

Yes - policy in place and effectively implemented
For more detail, please see page No. 21

Yes - policy in place and effectively implemented
For more detail, please see page No. 20

Yes - policy in place and effectively implemented
For more detail, please see page No. 21

Yes - policy in place and effectively implemented
For more detail, please see page No. 20

Yes - Policy in place and effectively implemented
No part-time employees recorded in 2024

For more detail, please see page No. 21

Yes - Policy in place and effectively implemented
For more detail, please see page No. 21

Yes - policy in place and effectively implemented
No reported injuries in 2024

For more detail, please see page No. 22

Yes - policy in place and effectively implemented
For more detail, please see page No. 22

Yes - policy in place and effectively implemented
For more detail, please see page No. 23

Yes - policy in place and effectively implemented
For more detail, please see page No. 23

Yes - policy in place and effectively implemented
15% of the total headcount

For more detail, please see page No. 22

In 2024 and through its CSR initiatives, the Company
invested over AED 1.5 million via community campaigns

run by the Red Crescent.

In addition, the Company has continued to promote its

scholarship program.
For more detail, please see page No. 14



| Governance

METRIC CALCULATION CORRESPONDING GRI CORRESPONDING SDG NOTES
STANDARD

G1. Board Diversity G1.1) Percentage: Total board seats GRI 2: General Disclosures & s 9 Board seats of which one is occupied by a woman
occupied by men and women 2021 I (and female representation on 2 out of 3 of the Board’s
GRI 405: Diversity and permanent committees)

G1.2) Percentage: Committee chairs Equal Opportunity 2016

F i No. 2
occupied by men and women or more detail, please see page No. 25

G2. Board Independence G2.1) Does Company prohibit CEO from GRI 2: General 16 ok e Yes
ANDSTRONG
WTITUTONS

serving as board chair?

Disclosures For more detail, please see page No. 25

G2.2) Percentage: Total board seats occupied | 2021
by independent board members

G3. Incentivised Pay Are executives formally incentivised to 16 s e No policy or relevant measures in place
perform on sustainability? NS

G4. Supplier Code of G4.1) Are your vendors or suppliers required | GRI 3: Material Topics 2021 12 Yes - policy in place and effectively implemented
CONSUMPTION
Conduct to follow a Code of Conduct? ANDPRODUCTION For more detail, please see page No. 26
G4.2) If yes, what percentage of your m

suppliers have formally certified their
compliance with the code?
G5. Ethics & Prevention of | G5.1) Does your Company follow GRI 3: Material Topics 2021 16 ok e Yes - policy in place and effectively implemented
ANDSTRONG
Corruption an Ethics and/or Prevention of

INSTITUTIONS

For more detail, please see page No. 25
Corruption policy?

G5.2) If yes, what percentage of your
workforce has formally certified its
compliance with the policy?

G6. Data Privacy G6.1) Does your Company follow any Data GRI 3: Material Topics 2021
Privacy policy?

Yes - policy in place and effectively implemented (does
not comply with GDPR rules as it not required)

66.2) Has your Company taken steps to For more detail, please see page No. 26

comply with GDPR rules?

G7. Sustainability Does your Company publish a GRI 2: General Disclosures
Reporting

Yes - annually as a separate report
12 CONSUMPTION
2021 ANDPRODUCTION

QO

sustainability Report? For more detail, please see page No. 26

G8. Disclosure Practices G8.1) Does your Company provide GRI 2: General Disclosures 12 No - not required for this line of business
. .o . e CONSUMPTION.
sustalnAablllty data to sustainability 2021 ANOPRODUCTION For more detail, please see page No. 26
Reporting frameworks? GRI 1: Foundation 2021 (e\e)

G8.2) Does your Company focus on specific
UN Sustainable Development

G8.3) Does your Company set

targets and Report progress on the UN
SDGs?

G9. External Assurance Are your sustainability disclosures assured GRI 2: General Disclosures No
orvalidated by a third-party audit firm? 2021
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WAHA CAPITAL

CHAIRMAN’S REPORT

Dear Shareholders,

It is my privilege to report that Waha Capital has delivered another year of strong performance in 2024,
generating net profit attributable to shareholders of AED 381 million while achieving a robust 10% return
on average equity. These results underscore the strength of our investment strategy, our ability to
navigate complex market conditions, and our commitment to delivering sustainable value that generates
positive financial returns.

Our disciplined approach and multi-year track record of success enabled us to achieve a 13% year-on-
year growth in total assets under management {AUM), which reached AED 11.9 billion. Notably, third-
party assets increased to AED 6.9 biltion as of December 31, 2024, now comprising 58% of total AUM
- an important milestone in our strategic growth journey.

This momentum has been driven by Waha Investment, our wholly owned asset management subsidiary,
which attracted significant third-party capital commitments in 2024. lts actively managed long-short
emerging market equities and credit funds continue to differentiate Waha Capital, attracting institutional
investors globally and enhancing our recurring fee income.

In 2024, the Private Investments business monetized AED 294 million from mature assets as it
maintained a rigorous growth-focused, multi-asset investment approach. This was complemented by
mark-to-market gains in several portfolio assets. The team remains focused on monetizing holdings in
other mature assets so that it can redeploy the capital raised into emerging investment opportunities.

Waha Land, our wholly owned real estate subsidiary, continued to serve as a stable income-generating
asset, supported by strong rental revenues from ALMARKAZ, our light industrial development in Abu
Dhabi. With Stages 1 and 2A now 98% occupied and Stage 2B, completed in Q1 2024, already at 50%
occupancy, demand remains robust, reinforcing Waha Land’s role as a consistent value driver.

Our 2024 results reflect the resilience and scalability of Waha Capital’s business model. With the
successful refinancing of our revolving credit facility under enhanced ferms, we have further
strengthened our balance sheet and positioned the company to capitalize on emerging opportunities
that align with our disciplined investment approach.

With 2025 well underway , Waha Capital remains focused on reinforcing its market position and driving
long-term shareholder value. We will continue to expand our investor base, attract additional third-party
capital, and execute a flexible, strategic approach to capital deployment. Our ability to remain agile,
pragmatic, and forward-thinking will be key to identifying and unlocking high-value investment
opportunities in the year ahead.

I would like to extend my deep appreciation to the visionary leadership of the UAE government for
fostering an economic environment that enables businesses like Waha Capital to thrive.

Finally, | would like to express my sincere gratitude to the Board, management team, and employees
for their unwavering commitment, expertise, and dedication. Their efforts have been instrumental in
delivering another year of sirong financial and operational performance.

-

Waleed Al karrab Al Muhairi

Chairman
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

AL WAHA CAPITAL PJSC

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Al Waha Capital PISC (“the Company™) and its
subsidiaries (together referred to as “the Group™), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements including a summary of material
accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2024, and its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued
by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

Basis for opinion

We have conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”).
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the duditor's responsibilities Jor the audit of
the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with
the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (IESBA) together with the ethical requirements
that are relevant to our audit of the Group’s consolidated financial statements in the United Arab Emirates, and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the JESBA Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not
provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed
the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included
the performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to
address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.

A mamber llem of Ernst & Youndg Global Limited
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

AL WAHA CAPITAL PJSC continued

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
Key audit matters continued

Valuation of investment properties

The Group’s investment properties amounted to AED 434.2 million as at 31 December 2024, The Group carries
such investment properties at fair value and gain/loss from changes in the fair value of are included in profit or
loss. The Group uses independent valuers to determine the fair value of the investment properties on an annual
basis.

As the fair value is determined using non-observable inputs under different valuation techniques, it requires
management to apply significant judgement and use of assumptions in determining the fair value of investment
properties. We have identified valuation of investment properties as a key audit matter in view of the significant
estimates and judgments involved,

For details of the investment properties related disclosures, refer to notes 8 and 3(d).
As part of our audit procedures, we have:

. Assessed the appropriateness of accounting policy and valuation basis used to measure investment
properties in the consolidated financial statements;

. Assessed the external valuer’s competence, capabilities and objectivity by considering their terms of
engagement with the Group to determine whether there were any matters that might have affected their
objectivity or may have imposed any scope limitations in their work;

* Involved our real estate specialists to assist us in evaluating the key assumptions and methodologies of
both management and the external valuer. With the assistance of our real estate specialists, we have
assessed whether the valuations were performed in accordance with the IFRSs requirements;

. Gained an understanding of valuation techniques and the assumptions applied. We also assessed whether
the assumptions used are reasonable and supportable with available evidence; and

. We have assessed the adequacy of disclosure relating to investment properties in line with the
requirements of IFRSs.

Revenue from healthcare operations
The Group operates healthcare clinics and provides a range of healthcare services through such clinics. Revenue
from such healthcare operations is a key performance indicator for the Group’s performance.

For details of revenue from healthcare operations related disclosures, refer to notes 20 and 3(k). As applicable,
we reviewed the revenue recognition policies applied by the Group to assess their compliance with
IFRS requirements. For each material operation, we involved component auditors to perform substantive audit
procedures which included substantive analytical procedures at the Group and subsidiary level and testing on a
representative sample of transactions to check whether revenues were recognised in the correct accounting period
and at appropriate amounts. We have also assessed the adequacy of disclosure in line with the requirements of
the [FRSs.

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

AL WAHA CAPITAL PJSC continued

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

Disposal of an investment in an associate

As referred to in the notes 11 and 3(a)(iii) to the consolidated financial staterents, during the year, the Group
has divested its equity investment in an associate which resulted in a gain of AED 68,018 thousand as recognised
in the consolidated financial statements. Considering the significance of this transaction in ferms of its impact on
the consolidated financial statements, we have identified this as a key audit matter.

As part of our audit, we have performed the following key procedures:

E obtained an understanding of the transaction structure through discussions with the management and
review of relevant agreements;

) checked the carrying value of the investment before the sale transaction and the appropriateness of the
gain recognised in relation to the transaction in accordance with the IFRSs requirements;

. discussed the key milestones in relation to the transaction and the position with regard to the achievement
of such milestones at the year end and gathered relevant evidences in this regard; and

. assessed the adequacy of disclosure in line with the requirements of IFRSs.

Other information

Other information consists of the information included in the Chairman’s Report, Management’s Discussion and
Analysis and Annual report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.
We obtained the Chairman’s Report and Management Discussion and Analysis prior to the date of our audit
report, and we expect to obtain the Annual Report after the date of our auditor’s report. The Board of Directors
and management are responsible for the other information.

Qur opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed or the other information obtained prior to the date of the
auditor’s opinion, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the consolidated financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in
accordance with TFRS Accounting Standards and in compliance with the applicable provisions of the
Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company and the UAE Federal Law No. (32) of 2021, and for
such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concem and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
has no realistic altemative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial teporting process.

£ member firm of Emst & Young Global Limited
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

AL WAHA CAPITAL PJSC continued

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

Auditor

s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole

are free

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes
P

our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from

fraud or

error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected

to inflnence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part

of an audit in accordance with [SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional

skepticism throughout the andit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concem basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. i we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion, Qur conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
aunditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the Group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the finrancial
information of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the
audit work performed for the purposes of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinjon.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

& member firm of Ernst 8 Young Global Limited
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

AL WAHA CAPITAL PJSC continued

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements continued

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats
or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

As required by UAE Federal Law No. (32) of 2021, we report that for the year ended 31 December 2024:

i) we have obtained all the information and explanations we considered necessary for the purposes of our
audit;
ii) the consolidated financial statements have been prepared and comply, in all material respects, with the

applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Law No. (32) of 2021 and the Memorandum and Articles of
Association of the Company;

iii) the Group has maintained proper books of account;

iv) the financial information included in the Chairman’s Report is consistent with the books of account of
the Group;

V) Investment in shares and stocks are included in notes 11 and 12 to the consolidated financial statements
and include purchases and investment made by the Group during the year ended 31 December 2024;

vi) note 27 to the consolidated financial statements reflects the disclosures relating to material related party

transactions and the terms under which they were conducted;

vii) based on the information that has been made available to us nothing has come to our attention which
causes us to believe that the Company has contravened, during the financial year ended 31 December
2024, any of the applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Law No. (32) of 2021 or of its Memorandum
and Articles of Association which would materially affect its activities or its consolidated financial
position as at 31 December 2024; and

viii)  note 22 to the consolidated financial statements discloses social contributions made during the year
ended 31 December 2024.

For Ernst & Young

Walid J Nakfour
Registration No: 5479

14 February 2025
Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited



WAHA CAPITAL

Consolidated statement of financial position

As at 31 December
2024 2023
Note AED 000 AEC '000
ASSETS
Property and equipment, net 7 14,423 12,966
Investment properties 8 434,200 413,450
Goodwill and intangible assets 9 37,440 37,081
Right-of-use assets 19 42,743 23.431
Investments in associates and joint ventures 11 95,246 88,313
Loan investments 10 52,689 46,340
Inventories 2,167 2,522
Financial investments 12 10,272,592 8,652,900
Trade and other receivables 13 1,895,432 2,928,422
Cash and bank balances 14 901,393 866,942
13,748,335 13,072,387
Assets held for sale 25 468,515 468,515
Total assets 14,216,850 13,540,882
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Share capital 15 1,863,514 1,944,515
Treasury shares 15 ({39,759) (187,066}
Retained earnings 1,444,936 1,383,212
Reserves 665,459 616,912
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 3,954,152 3757573
Non-controlling interesis 4,307,766 2,911,542
Total equity 8,261,918 6,662,115
Liabilities
Borrowings 16 5,373,263 5,955 844
Financial liabilities 17 229,698 218.866
Defarred tax liability 3,206 3,286
Lease liabilities 19 41,085 21,420
Trade and other liabilities 18 307,600 672,351
Total liabilities 5,954,932 6,871,767
Total equity and liabilities 14,216,850 13,540,882

These consolidated financial statemenits were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 14 February 2025 and signed
on their behalf by:

' Nopr
Wrman Makafjjng Director Chief Financial Officer

The notes numbered 1 to 30 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
The independent auditor's report on the consolidated financial statements is set out on pages 2fo 7.

8



Consolidated statement of profit or loss
For the year ended 31 December

WAHA CAPITAL

2024 2023
MNote AED ‘000 AED ‘000
Revenue from sale of goods and services 20 150,111 140,433
Cost of sale of goods and services 20 {113,340} (107,456)
Gross profit from healthcare operations 36,771 32,977
Share of profit of associates and joint ventures, net 11 21,357 5,059
Gain on disposal of investment in associates and joint
ventures 11 68,018 5,021
Income from financial investments, nst 2 940,960 1,089,438
Income from investment properties, net 8 69,339 59,790
QOther income, nef 39,207 30,118
Net oparating income 1,175,652 1,222 404
General and administrative expenses 22 {263,532) {259,650)
Finance cost 23 {308,981) {191,675)
Finance incomea 24 76,611 52,364
Profit before tax 679,750 823,440
Tax expense 26 (313) (3,286)
Profit for the year 679,437 820,154
Profit for the year attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 381,277 440,102
Non-contrelling interests 298,160 380,052
Profit for the year 679437 820,154
Basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to the
equity holders of the parent (AED) 15 0.206 0.234

The notes numbered 1 to 30 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

The independent auditor's report on the consolidated financial statements is set out on pages 2to 7.

9



Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 December

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Share of effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow
hedges

Share of changes in other comprehensive income of investment in

associates and joint ventures (note 11)

Release of share of other comprehensive income of investment in

associates and joint ventures upon disposal
Other comprehensive income for the year
Total comprehensive income for the year
Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent

Non-controlling interests
Total comprehensive income for the year

WAHA CAPITAL

2024 2023
AED ‘000 AED 000
679,437 820,154
9.538 -
(2,982) (4,255)
3,833 88
10,419 (4,167)
689,856 815,987
391,696 435,935
298,160 380,052
689,856 815,987

The notes numbered 1 to 30 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
The independent auditor’s report on the consolidated financial statements is set out on pages 2to 7.

10
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WAHA CAPITAL

Consolidated statement of cash flows
For the year ended 31 December

2024 2023
Note AED '000 AED '000
Cash flows from operating activities
Profil before tax 679,750 §23,440
AdJustments for:
Depreciation on property and equipment, net 7 5,625 §,604
Depreciation on right-of-use assets 19 12,516 11,814
Finance cost 23 308,981 191,675
Finance income 24 {76,611) {52,364)
Charge for employees’ end of service benefits, net 2,681 4,465
Amortisation of intangible assets ] 4 -
Reversal for expected credit losses 4,126 6,947
interast expense on lease liabilities 19 {1,881) {1.888)
Share of profit from investment in associates and joint ventures, net 11 (21,357) {5.059)
Gain on disposal of investmenl in associates and joint venlures " {68,018) (5.021)
Fair value gain on investmenl properties 8 {13,589} {15,081}
income from financial assets at FVTPL 21 {940,960} {1,089.438)
{108,733} {121,886)
Interest received 320,477 88,671
Dividend received 190,121 116,541
Dividend from equity-accounted associates and joint ventures 11 8,291 5,186
Proceeds from disposal of equity-accounted associates and joint veniures - 7.918
Investrments in financial assels at FVTPL {1,202,601) {788,541}
Loans (repaid) / obtained for financial assets at FVTPL 16 {414,630) 2,305,404
Finance cost paid on loans obtained against financial assels at FVTPL {183,030) {63,385}
Changes in working capital:
Change in inventories 355 (308)
GChange in trade and other receivables 1,153,161 {1.984,154)
Change in trade and other liabilities {323,360) 143.675
Net cash used in operations {559,949) {290.876)
Employees' end of service benefits paid {2,358) {1.247}
Net cash used in operating activities (562,307) (292,123)
Cash flows from Iinvesting activities
Purchase of intangibles, net 9 {363} (117}
Paymenis made for development of investment properlies 8 {7,161} {(117,732)
Purchase of property and equipment, net 7 (7,082} (3.433)
Net cash used in investing activities {14,606} {121,282)
Cash flows from financing activities
Finance cost paid on borrowings {124,552) {113,334}
Lease liabilities principal paid {11,859) (12,948)
Loans repaid 16 {1,336,657) (34,546}
Loans obtained 16 1,174,619 91,971
Dividends paid 15 {188,351} {150,681)
Contributions from non-controlling interest holders, net 1,088,064 708,115
Acquisition of non-controlling interest holders - {4,537)
Distribulions paid to non-controlling interest holders - {2.843)
Procesds from treasury shares sale - 1,801
Net cash generated from financing activities 611,364 482,998
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 34,451 69,533
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 866,942 797.349
Cash and cash equivalents on 31 December 14 901,393 866,942

The notes numbered 1 to 30 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
The independent auditor's report on the consolidated financial statements is set out on pages 2to 7.
12



WAHA CAPITAL

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

1

Legal status and principal activities

Al Waha Capital PJSC (the “Company”) is a public joint stock company with limited liability, formed in the Emirate of Abu
Dhabi, United Arab Emirates, by Emiri Decree No. 10 dated 20 May 1897 and incorporated on 12 July 1987.

These consolidated financial statements comprise the results and financial position of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the "Group”).

The Group invests and operates in a wide range of sectors, including public markets, industrial real estate, infrastructure,
healthcare, fintech and cil and gas.

Basis of preparation
(a) Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) and applicable requirements of the UAE laws.

{b) Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for investment properties and
cerain financial instruments that are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the
accounting policies below,

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services. Fair value
is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another
valuation technique. [n estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group considers the characterisiics of the asset
or liability if market participants would consider those characteristics when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement
date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of IFRS 2, leasing transactions that
are within the scope of IFRS 16, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as
net realisable value in [AS 2 or value in use in IAS 36.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

« Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date.

s Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

* Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

{c) Functional currency and presentation currency

The individual financial statements of each Group company are presented in the currency of the primary economic
environment in which it operates (its functional currency). For the purpose of these consolidated financial statements, the
results and financial position of the Group are presented in United Arab Emirates Dirhams ("AED"}, which is the Group’s
presentation currency. All financial information presented in AED has been rounded to the nearest thousand, unless
otherwise stated.
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WAHA CAPITAL

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
2 Basis of preparation {continued}
{d} New and revised IFRS
() New and revised IFRSs adopted with no material effect on the consolidated financial statements
In the current year, the Group has adopted new number of standards and amendments to IFRSs issued by the International

Accounting Standards Board (IASB) that are mandatorily effective for an accounting period that begins on or after 1 January
2024, as follows:

New and revised IFRSs Effective for annual
periods beginning on

or after

Amendments to |AS 1 - Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current 1 January 2024
Amendments to IFRS 16 - Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback 1 January 2024
Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 - Supplier Finance Arrangements 1 January 2024

The application of these revised and new IFRSs has not had any material impact on the amounts reported for the current
and prior years but may affect the accounting for future fransactions or arrangements.

(i New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effactive and not early adopted

The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

New and revised IFRSs Effective for annual
periods beginning on

or after

Amendments to 1AS 21 - Lack of exchangeability 1 January 2025
IFRS 18 - Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements 1 January 2027
IFRS 19 - Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures 1 January 2027
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WAHA CAPITAL

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Material accounting policy information
{a) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incarporate the financial statements of the Company and entifies (including structured
entities) controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries.

{iy Subsidiaries

Consolidation of a subsidiary is achieved when the Company obtains control over the investee and ceases when the
Company loses control of the investee. Control is achieved when the Company:

¢ has power over the investee;
« is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
= has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

When the Company has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power over the investee when the
voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee unitaterally. The
Company considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the Company's voting rights in an
investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

e the size of the Company's holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote
holders;

= potential voting rights held by the Company, ather vote holders or other parties;

+ rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

» any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Company has, or does not have, the current ability to
direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting patterns at previous
shareholders’ meetings.

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes
to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the date the Company gains control until the date when
the Company ceases to control the investee.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the equity holders of the parent and to
the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the equity holders of the parent
and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made fo the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in ling
with the Group's accounting policies.

All intragroup balances, equity, income, expenses, and cash flows resulting from intragroup transactions are eliminated in
full on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries
are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interest and the non-controfling interests are
adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which
the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in
equity and attributed to equity holders of the parent.
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WAHA CAPITAL

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Material accounting policy information {continued}
(a) Basis of consolidation {continued)
{i) Subsidiaries (continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is recognised in profit of loss and is calculated as the difference
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii} the
previous carrying amount of the assets {including goodwill), and the liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling
interests. All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for
as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclagsified to profit or loss or
transferred to another category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable IFRSs). The fair value of any investment
retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initiat recognition for
subsequent accounting under IFRS 9, or when applicable, the cost on initial secognition of an investment in an associate or
a joint venture.

{ii) Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in profit or
loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired, and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests
in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer's previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any} over the net of the
acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed.

{iii) Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists
only when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and fiabilities of associates or joint ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting, except when the investment, or a portion thereof, is classified as held
for sale, in which case it is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5. Under the equity method, an investment in an associate
or a joint venture is initially recognised in the consolidated staterment of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to
recognise the Group's share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate or joint venture. When
the Group’s share of losses of an associate or a joint venture exceeds the Group's interestin that assaciate or joint venture
{which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net invesiment in the associate or joint
venture), the Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent
that the Group has incurred legal or constructive cbligations or made payments on behalf of the associate or joint venture.
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WAHA CAPITAL

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Material accounting policy information {continued)
(a) Basis of consolidation (continued)
{ii} Investments in associates and joint ventures (continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for using the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of
the cost of the investment over the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilites and contingent
liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any
excess of the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after
reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.

The requirements of IAS 36 are applied to determine whather it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect
to the Group’s investment in an associate or a joint venture. When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment
{including goodwill) is tested for impairmentin accordance with IAS 36 impaimment of Assels as a single asset by comparing
its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount, Any impairment
loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in
accordance with IAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the date when the investment ceases to be an asscciate or a
joint venture, or when the investment is classified as held for sale.

(b) Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations

The Group classifies non-current assets and disposal groups as held for sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered
principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. Non-current assets and disposal groups classified
as held for sale are measured at the tower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. Costs to sell are the
incremental costs directly attributable to the dispasal of an asset (disposal group), excluding finance costs and income tax
expense.

The criteria for held for sale classification is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable, and the assetor disposal
group is available for immediate sale in its present condition. Actions required to complete the sale should indicate that it is
unlikely that significant changes te the sale will be made or that the decision to sell will be withdrawn. Management must be
committed to the plan to sell the asset and the sale expected to be completed within one year from the date of the
classification.

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and
fair value less costs to sell.

Assets and lisbilities classified as held for sale are presented separately as current items in the statement of financial
position.

All other notes to the consolidated financial statements include amounts for continuing operations, unless indicated
otherwise.
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WAHA CAPITAL

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Material accounting policy information (continued)
{c) Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment loss.
The cost of property and equipment is the purchase cost plus any directly attributable cost of acquisition.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount of recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance expenses are charged to the statement of profit or loss during the
financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-ine method to allocate the assets’ cost to their residual value over their
estimated useful life, on the following basis:

Description Estimated useful lives
Leasehold improvements 3to Syears
IT equipment, furniture and fittings 3 to 5 years
Medical and other equipment 5to 7 years
Motor vehicles 3 years

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at each year end, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to
arise from the continued use of the agset

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an asset is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds
and the camying amount of the asset and is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss

(d) Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to eam rentals andfor for capital appreciation (including property under
construction for such purposes). Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Cost
includes all direct costs attributable to bringing the assets to the location and condition necessary for the asset to operate
in the manner intended, including related staff costs, design, and for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalized in
accardance with the Group’s accounting policy. When the assets are ready for intended use, they are transferred from work-
in-progress to completed properties. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are measured at fair value.
Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment properties are included in profit or loss in the period
in which they arise.

An investment properly is derecognised upen disposal or when the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use
and no future economic benefits are expected from the disposal. Any gain or loss ariging on derecognition of the property
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit
or loss in the period in which the property is derecognised.
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WAHA CAPITAL

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Material accounting policy information (continued)
{e) Goodwill and intangible assets

{i) Goodwill

Goodwill arising upon an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business
less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units (or groups of
cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when
there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss
is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit
pro rata based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in
profit or loss. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the atiributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the
profit or loss on disposal.

The Group's policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an equity accounted investes is described at note 3 (a) (iii)
above.

(i} Other intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Other intangible assets acquired in a business combination and recognised separately from goodwill are initially recognised
at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost), and include trademarks, licenses contracts and
software.

Subsequentto initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination are reported at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately.
Amortisation is recognised on a siraight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of intangible assets, on the following basis:

Description Estimated useful lives
Trademarks 510 10 years
Software 3 to 5 years

The estimated useful lives and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

{iii) De-recognition of intangible assets
An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.



WAHA CAPITAL

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Material accounting policy information (continued)
{fi Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other than goodwill

Atthe end of each reparting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. if any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

{g) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive} as a result of a past event, it is
probable that the Group will be required to settie the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at
the end of the reporting period, considering the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those
cash flows (when the effect of the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, a
receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received, and the amount of the
receivable can be measured reliably.

{h) Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is detemined using the weighted average
method and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories and bringing them to their existing location and
condition. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated
selling expenses. Allowance for obsolete and slow-moving inventory is made to reduce the carrying amount of inventories
to their net realisable value.

{i) Financial instruments
(i} Initial recognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recagnised when a group entity becomes a parly to the contractual provisions
of the instrument except for “regular way” purchases and sale of financial assets which are recognised on trade date basls
{other than derivative assels).

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabitities at fair
value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition.

Transaction costs directly atiributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Options which are acquired at transaction cost, with a different day one fair value based on unobservable inputs, are initially
recognised at fair value; and any differences between fair value and transaction cost are deferred into unearned income,
which is recycled into profit and loss account over the life of the options. Any subsequent changes on the re-measuremsnt
of fair value are presented in profit and loss account.
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WAHA CAPITAL

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Material accounting policy information (continued)
{i} Financial instruments (continued)
(ii) Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a frade date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame established
by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Debt instruments
Debt instruments are classified and subsequently measured at either amortised cost or fair value on the basis of the Group's
business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets.

Debt instruments are measured at amortised cost, net of any write down for impairment, only if (i) the assetis held within a
business model whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual cash flows and (i} the contractual terms of
the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

Interest calculated using the effective interest method is recognised in profit or loss and is included in ‘Finance cost, net’.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the
expected life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

The Group may choose at initial recognition to designate a debt instrument that otherwise qualifies to be measured at
amortised cost or as at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch. All other debt instruments must be measured as at FVTPL.

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost

Trade and other receivables, loan investments and cash and bank balances are measured at amortised cost less any
impairment. Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis, except for short term receivables when the
recognition of interest would be immaterial.

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and deposits held with banks for working capital purposes (excluding
deposits held under lien) and term and Wakala deposits of original maturity less than 3 months.

Equity instruments

A financial asset is held for trading if:

» it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near term; or

« oninitial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group manages together and has
evidence of a recent actual pattem of short-term profit-taking; or

» itis a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument or a financial guarantee.

[nvestments in equity instruments designated at FVTOCI are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs.
Subsequently, they are measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes in fair value recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve. The cumulative gain or loss will not be
reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the investments. The Group holds equity investments and has not elected to carry
these investments at FYTOCI with changes in fair value through other comprehensive income.

Dividends on these investments in equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss when the Group's right to receive the
dividends is established in accordance with IFRS 15 Revenue from Confracts with Customers, unless the dividends clearly
represent a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Dividends eamed are recognised in profit or loss and are included
in ‘Income from financial investments, net’.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Material accounting policy information {continued)
(i) Financial instruments (continued)
(iii} Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity
Debt and equity instruments issued by the Group are classnf ed as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instrumenis
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognised as the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Group’s own equity instruments is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is
recagnised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group's own equity instruments.

Financial liabilitles
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.

{iv) Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, of
when it fransfers the financial asset in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
financial asset are transferred or in which the Group neither transfers nor retains subsiantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset. On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between
the carrying amount of the asset and the consideration received is recognised in:

«  Profit or loss, for securities measured at amortised cost or FVTPL, or
e  Other comprehensive income, for investments at FVTOCI. At the time of derecognition of FVTOC) investment any
revaluation reserve is transferred to retained eamings.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

{v) Offsetting

Financial assets and fiabilities are offset and reported net in the consolidated statement of financial position only when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and when the Group intends to settle either on a net basis,
or to realise the asset and settle the liability simuitaneously. Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when
permitted by the accounting standards, or for gains and losses arising from a group of similar transactions such as in the
Group's trading activity.

The Group is party to a number of arrangements, including master netting agreements that give it the right to offset financial
assete and financial liabilities but, where it does not intend to settle the amounts net or simultaneously, the assets and
liabiliies concerned are presented on a gross basis.

{vi) Repurchase and reverse repurchase contracts

Securities sold subject to a commitment te repurchase them at a predetermined price at a specified future date (repos)
continue to be recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position and a liability is recorded in respect of the
considsration received under borrowings. Assets purchased with a corresponding commitment to resell at a specified future
date (reverse repos) are not recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position. Amounts placed under these
agreements are included in ‘Reverse-repo contracts’ within ‘Financial investments’.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Material accounting policy information {continued)

{i}y Financial instruments (continued)
{vii} Foreign exchange gains and losses

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign currency and
translated at the spot rate at the and of each reporting period. The foreign exchange component forms part of it fair value
gain or loss. Therefore,

» for financial assets and liabilities that are classified as at FVTPL, the foreign exchange component is recognised in
profit or loss; and

« for financial assets that are equity instruments and designated as at FVTOGIL, any foreign exchange component is
recognised in other comprehensive income.

For foreign currency denominated financial assets and liabilities measured at amortised cost at the end of each reporting
period, the foreign exchange gains and losses are determined based on the amortised cost of the financial assets and are
recognised in the ‘Income from financial investments, net’ ling item in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

{viii) Derivative financial instruments

The Group enters into a variety of derivative financial instruments, including futures, credit default swaps, total return swaps,
interest rate swaps and foreign exchange forward contracts to manage its exposure to equity price, interest rate and foreign
exchange rate risks.

Derivatives are inifially recognised at fair value on the date the derivative contracts are entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of each reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit
immediately unless: {i} the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the
recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge relationship or (ii) the derivative is capitalised as unearned
income and subsequently recognised in profit or loss over the life of the oplions and warrants.

(ix) Hedge accounting

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as interest rate swaps, to hedge its interest rate risks. Such derivative
financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into and are
subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are caried as financial assets when the fair value is positive and as
financial liabilities when the fair value is negative.

At the inception of a hedge refationship, the Group formally designates and dacuments the hedyge relationship to which it
wishes to apply hedge accounting and the risk management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge transactions.
Furthermore, at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the Group documents whether the hedging instrument
is effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk, which is
when the hedging relationships meet all of the following hedge effectiveness requirements:

s There is an economic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument

e The effect of credit risk does not dominate the value changes that result from that economic relationship

e The hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as that resulting from the guantity of the hedged item that the
Group actually hedges and the quantity of the hedging instrument that the Group actually uses to hedge that quantity
of hedged item.

If a hedging relationship ceases to meet the hedge effectiveness requirement relating to the hedge ratio but the risk
management objective for that designated hedging relationship remains the same, the Group adjusts the hedge ratio of the
hedging relationship (i.e. rebalances the hedge) so that it meets the qualifying criteria again.

Note 12 sets out details of the fair values of the derivative instruments used for hedging purposes.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Material accounting policy information (continued)
{i} Financial instruments {continued)
{ix) Hedge accounting {continued)

Cash flow hedges

The effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised in other comprehensive income in the cash
flow hedge reserve, while any ineffective portion is recognised immediately in profit or loss. The cash flow hedge reserve is
adjusted to the lower of the cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument and the cumulative change in fair value of
the hedged item.

If cash flow hedge accounting is discontinued, the amount that has been accumulated in other comprehensive income must
remain in accumulated other comprehensive income if the hedged future cash flows are still expected to occur. Otherwise,
the amount will be immediately reclassified to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment. After discontinuation, once the
hedged cash fiow occurs, any amount remaining in accumulated other comprehensive income must be accounted for
depending on the nature of the underlying transaction as described above.

(x) Impairment of financial assets

Under IFRS 9, the Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on financial assets. No impairment loss is
recognised for investments in equity instruments which are carried at FVTPL. The amount of expected credit losses (ECL)
is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the respective financial
instrument.

The Group applies the IFRS ¢ simplified approach to measuring ECL which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for its
trade and other receivables. Further, the Group applies the general approach for all other financial assets carried at
amortised cost.

The Group recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initiat recognition. If, on
the other hand, the credit risk on the financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
measures the loss allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

{i)y Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other than the entity's
functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
At the end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing
at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated. Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in profit or logs in
the period in which they arise.

(k) Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated
customer returns, rebates, and other similar allowances.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Material accounting policy information {continued)
{k} Revenue recognition {continued)

(i) Sale of goods and services

The Group recognises revenue from contracis with customers based on a five-step model as set out in IFRS 15:

Step 1 Identify contract{s) with a customer: A contract is defined as an agreement between two or more parties that creates
enforceable rights and obligations and sets out the criteria for every contract that must be met.

Step 2 Identify performance obligations in the contract A performance obligation is a promise in a contract with a customer
to transfer a good or service to the customer.

Step 3 Determine the transaction price: The transaction price is the amount of consideration to which the Group expects
to be entitled in exchange for transfering promised goods or services to a customer, excluding amounts collected on behalf
of third parties.

Step 4 Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract: For a contract that has more than one
performance cbligation, the Group allocates the transaction price to each performance obfigation in an amount that depicts
the amount of consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for satisfying each performance
obligation.

Step 5 Recognise revenue when (or as) the Group satisfies a performance obligation.

The Group satisfies a performance obligation and recognises revenue over time, if one of the following criteria is met:

a) The Group's performance does not create an asset with an altemate use to the Group and the Group has as an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

b} The Group's performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced.

¢} The customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs.

For performance obligations where one of the above conditions are not met, revenue is recognised at the point in time at
which the performance obligation is satisfied.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, considering contractually defined terms
of payment and excluding taxes and duty. The Group assesses its revenue arrangements against specific criteria to
determine if it is acting as principal or agent.

Revenue is recognised to the extent it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue and
costs, if applicable, can be measured reliably,

The Group recognises revenue from the sale of goods and services from the following:
a) healthcare services to patients at its various clinics.
b) laboratory services to patients for tests requested by patients or prescribed by doctors; and

¢) contracts with customers for the sale of pharmacy items including medicines and other consumables

Performance obligations relating to goods and services are satisfied at the point in time.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Material accounting policy information {continued)
(k) Revenue recognition (continued)
(ii} Dlvidend and interest income

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the shareholder's right to receive payment has been established
{provided that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the amount of income can be measured
reliably).

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the
effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected
life of the financial asset to that asset's net carrying amount on initial recognition.

{ili) Rental income
The Group's policy for recognition of revenue from operating leases is described in note {1} below.
() Leasing

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

{i} The Group as lessor

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are
classified as operating leases. Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the camying amount of the leased asset
and recognised on a straight-ine basis over the lease term.

{li} The Group as lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing
the right to use the underlying assets.

Right-of-use assels

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabiliies. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at of before the commencement date less any lease
incentives received. Unless the Group is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the leased asset at the end of the lease
term, the recognised right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life
and the Jease term. Right-of-use assets are subject to impairment.

26



WAHA CAPITAL

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Material accounting policy information (continued)
() Leasing {continued)
(i) The Group as lessee (continued)

Lease fiabllities

At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value of lease
payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments} less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts
expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate. The variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate
are recognised as expense in the period on which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement date, the
amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In
addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilifies is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change
in the in-substance fixed lease payments or a change in the assessment to purchase the underlying asset.

Shorl-term leases and leases of low-valile assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of property and equipment (i.e., those
leasas that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option).
It also applies the lease of low-value assets recognition exemption to leases of office equipment that are considered of low
value. Lease payments on short- term Jeases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.

(m)} Employee benefits

The provision for employees’ end of service benefit is calculated in accordance with the UAE Federal Labour Law and is
recognised as an expense in the consolidated statement of profit and loss on an accrual basis.

Pension contribution for GCC nationals is recognised as an expense in the consolidated statement of profit and loss on an
accrual basis.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other fong-term employee benefits, included in trade and other liabilities, are measured
atthe present vatue of the estimated future cash outflows expected to be made by the Group in respect of services provided
by employees up to the reporting date.

{n} Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction, or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets,

until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit o loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Material accounting policy information (continued)
(o) Government grants

The Group believes that, in most cases, when land is initially received through government grants, the probability that future
economic benefits will flow 1o the Group is uncertain, since, until the Group has established plans to utilise the land, it is
possible that such iand may revert back to the govemment. In addition, in the absence of identified use of the land, the
amount of future economic benefits cannot be determined with reasonable certainty. Accordingly, land so received is not
initially recognised in the consolidated financial statements until certain events oceur, which enable management to
conclude that it becomes probable that future economic benefits will flow to the Group from its ewnership of such land.

Land received as govemment grants that do not meet the criteria that future economic benefits wilt flow to the Group, are
not recognised, but their existence is disclosed in the consolidated financial statements. The determination of whether future
economic benefits will flow to the Group is made by management using guidelines approved by the Board of Directors; each
such determination is also approved by the Board of Directors. Once the detemmination is made, land is recognised in the
financial statements at nominal value.

Al the point of such initial resognition, and subsequently, at each reporting date, an assessment is made by the Group as
ta the ultimate use of the land, and based on such assessment, the land is transferred to the relevant asset category (such
as investment property, property, plant and equipment or inventory) depending on its intended use, and is thereafter
accounted for using the accounting policy in place for that relevant asset category.

(p) Statutory reserve

In accordance with the Companies Law and the Company'’s Articles of Association, 10% of the profit after tax is transferred
at the end of each financial year to a non-distributable statutory reserve. Such transfers are required to be made until the
balance of the statutory reserve equals one half of the Company's paid up share capital.

{q) Treasury shares

Own equity instruments that are reacquired (treasury shares) are recognised at cost and deducted from equity. No gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments.

{r) Taxes

income tax
Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities.

Current income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity and not in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate.

Deforred tax

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting date.

28



WAHA CAPITAL

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Material accounting policy information {continued)
{r) Taxes (continued)

Deferred tax (continued)
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

e \When the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liabifity in a transaction
that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss.

s In respact of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and nterests
in joint arrangements, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is
prabable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carry forward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can
be utilised, except:

«  When the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of an
asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.

« In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and
interests in joint arrangements, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

The carmying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset o be utitised. Unrecognised
deferred tax assets are re-assessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable
that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

In assessing the recoverability of deferred tax assets, the Group relies on the same forecast assumptions used elsewhere
in the financial statements and in other management reports, which, among other things, reflect the potential impact of
climate-elated development on the business, such as increased cost of production as a result of measures to reduce carbon
emission.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the
reporting date.

Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss. Deferred tax items are
recognised in comrelation to the underlying transaction either in OCI or directly in equity.

Tax benefits acquired as part of a business combination, but not satisfying the criteria for separate recognition at that date,
are recognised subsequently if new information about facts and circumstances change. The adjustment is either treated as
a reduction in goodwill (as long as it does not exceed goodwill) if it was incurred during the measurement period or
recognised in profit or loss,

The Group offsets deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities if and only if it has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend either to
settie current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultanecusly, in each
future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recoverad.
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Notes to the consolidated financiat statements (continued)

3 Material accounting policy information {(continued)
{r)} Taxes (continued)

Value added tax (VAT}
Expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of VAT, except:
o When VAT incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in
which case, VAT is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item,

as applicable.
o When receivables and payables are stated with the amount of VAT included.

The net amount of VAT recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables
in the consolidated statement of financial position.

4 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgements,
estimates or assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Revision o
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future period affected.

(a) Key sources of estimation uncertainty

{i) Investment property valuation

The Group’s investment properties are revalued at the end of the reporting period by management with reference to
accredited independent appraisers having an apprapriate recognised professional qualification and recent experience in
the location and category of the property being valued. The fair valugs are based on market values, being the estimated
consideration that would be exchanged at an arms’ length transaction between knowledgeable market participants at
measurement date.

In the absence of reliable estimates of current prices in an active market, the valuations are prepared by considering the
aggregate of the estimated future cash flows expected to be received from the property considering income capitalization
approach, comparable method and residual value method. Based on the revaluation, a fair value increase of AED 13,589
thousand was recognised in the current year (2023: AED 15,061 thousand). The fair valuation methodology of the
investment properties are disclosed in note 8. '

{ii) Impairment of goodwill

Goodwill arising from the acquisition of the Healthcare subsidiaries was tested for impairment during the year. The critical
estimates involved are disclosed in note 9.

(iiiy  Allowance for expected credit losses

The Group has estimatad the recoverability of trade and other receivables, and loan investments and has congidered the
allowance required for Expected Credit Losses {"ECL").

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring ECL which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for its
trade and other receivables. Further, the Group applies the general approach for all other financial assets carried at
amortised cost.

30



WAHA CAPITAL

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

4 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty {continued}
(a) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued}

(i}  Allowance for expected credit losses (continued)

As at 31 December 2024, provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables amounting to AED 41,416 thousand
{2023: AED 1,722,709 thousand), amounted to AED 4,235 thousand (2023: AED 16,815 thousand) and provision for
expected credit losses on other receivables amounting to AED 168,550 thousand (2023: AED 69,529 thousand) amounted
to AED 534 thousand (2023: AED 5,243 thousand). Any difference between the amounts actually collected in future periods
and the amounts expected to be received will be recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

{lv)  Fair value of financial instruments

The Group has financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair vaiue for financial reporting purposes. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses market-observable data to the extent it is available. Information about
the valuation techniques and inputs used in determining the fair value of various financial assets and liabilities are disclosed
in note 30.

(b} Critical accounting judgements

(i} Possibility of future economic benefits from land received as government grant

Refer to note 3(o) for a description of judgements used to ascertain the possibility of future economic benefits from land
received as government grant.

(i) Determining the lease term of contracts with renewal options

The Group determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods covered by an
option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any periods covered by an option to terminate the
lease, if it is reasonably certain not to be exercised.

(i)  Discount rate used for initial measurement of lease liabilities

The Group, as & lessee, measures the lease liabilities at the present value of the unpaid fease payments at the
commencement date. The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that rate can be
readily determined. If that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group on initial recognition of the lease uses its incremental
borrowing rate. Incremental borrowing rate is the rate of interest that the Group would have to pay to borrow over a similar
term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use assets in similar
economic environment. The Company detsmmined its incremental borrowing rate at 5.28% - 7.02% in respect of the lease
liabilities (note 19).
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

5 Composition of the Group
5.1 Subsidiaries

Details of the Group’s material subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period are as follows.

WAHA CAPITAL

Group’s shareholding

Country of

Subsidiary incorporation Principal activity 2024 2023
Private Investments

Al Waha Land LLC UAE Industrial Real Estate 100% 100%
WPI Health Investment LLC UAE Healthcare 100% 100%
Waha VAS Limited ! Cayman Islands Investment in Optasia 100% 100%
Waha Energy Limited ? Cayman Islands Energy 100% 100%
Asset Management

Waha Investment PrJSC UAE Invesiment manager 100% 100%
Wg;?ngg:;?:gg Management  cauman (siands  Financial investments

1 Holding Company carrying an investment in Cplasia (note 11).

2 Holding Company carrying special purpose vehicles for investments in Petronash Global Limited and NESR Corp {note 11

and 12).

2 The Group owns 47.3% of Waha MENA Equity Fund SP (2023: 51.2%), 40.1% of Waha Emerging Markets Credit Fund
SP (2023: 54.7%), 56% of Waha Islamic Income Fund $P (2023: 65%) and 100% of Waha EM Equity Fund SP (2023:

100%). These funds are managed by Waha Investment PrJSC.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

5 Compaosition of the Group {continued)
5.2 Details of subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests

5.2a Waha Investment Management Company SPC

WAHA CAPITAL

Summarised financial information in respect of Waha Investment Management Company SPG is set out below and this

represents amounts before intragroup eliminations.

Statement of financial position

Total assets

Total liabilities

Non-controlling interests?

Equity attributable to the equity holders of the parent

2024 2023
AED 000 AED ‘000
11,991,752 11,180,184
{4,304,641) (4,985,810}
(4,306,516) (2,912.407)
3,380,595 3,281,967

1 Movement in non-controlling interests includes: a) net investment into Waha MENA Equity Fund 8P of AED 162,711
thousand (2023: AED 345,579 thousand); b) net investments from Waha Emerging Markets Credit Fund SP of AED 599,354
thousand (2023: AED 327,694 thousand); and c) investroent of AED 33,102 thousand into Waha lslamic Income Fund SP

{2023: AED 34,842 thousand).

Movement in equity attributable to the equity holders of the parent includes a) redemption of AED 116,593 thousand from
Waha MENA Equity Fund SP {2023: AED 245,885 thousand) and the Group’s ownership decreased from 51 2% to 47.3%;
b) net redemption of AED 55,170 thousand (2023: AED 25,746 thousand) from Waha Emerging Markets Credit Fund SP and

the Group's ownership decreased from 54.7% to 40.1%.

Statement of profit or loss

Income from financial investments
Expenses
Profit for the year

Profit atiributable to equity holders of the parent
Profit attributable to the non-contrelling interests
Profit for the year

Statement of cash flows

Net cash inflow from operating activities
Net cash inflow from financing activities
Net cash inflow
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2024 2023
AED ‘000 AED ‘000
990,246 1,180,546
{421,278) (176,881)
569,068 1,003,665
270,125 620,316
298,943 383,349
569,068 1,003,665
586,614 44,822
564,008 519,186
1,150,622 564,008
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

5 Composition of the Group {continued}
5.2 Details of subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests {continued)
5.2b WPI Health Investment LLC

WPI Health Investment LLC (WPI) is a holding company for the Group’s 70% (2023 70%) ownership interest in Health Bay
Polyclinic and 100% (2023: 100%} in WF Investment LLC.

Summarised financial information in respect of WP is set out below. The summarised financial information below represents
amounts before intragroup eliminations.

2024 2023
Statement of financial position AED ‘000 AED ‘000
Non-current assets 85,509 61,530
Current assets 38,013 43,912
Total liabilities (67,546) {53,603)
Non-controlling interests 1,648 865
Equity attributable to the equity holders of the parent 57,624 52,704

2024 2023
Statement of profit or loss AED ‘000 AED '0D00
Income 151,389 141,043
Expenses, net {147,252) (144,481)
Profit | {loss} for the year 4,137 {3,438)
Gain / (loss) attributable to equity holders of the parent 4,920 (141)
Loss attributable to the non-controlling interests (783) (3,297)
Profit/ {loss) for the year 4,137 (3.438)
Statement of cash flows
Net cash inflow from operating activities 20,423 11,236
Net cash outflow from investing activities {6,751) (2,869)
Net cash outflow from financing aclivities {11,726) (11,745}
Net cash inflow / {outflow) 1,946 {3,378)
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
6 Operating segments

Private investments

The Private Investments segment holds all of the Group's proprietary investments in diversified industries including financial
services, infrastructure, oil and gas, fintech and healthcare.

Waha Land
Waha Land segment represents the Group’s interest in industrial real estate.
Public Markets

The Public Markets segment represents a platform to provide investors access to opportunities in equities and other asset
management services.

Corporate

The corporate segment comprises the Group's activities, which are not allocated to reportable segments.

Information related to the operating segments is mentioned below as at and for the year ended 31 December:

AED ‘000 Private
2024 Investments Waha Land Public Markets Corporate Consolidated
Revenus from sale of goods and

Services 150,111 - - - 150,111
Cost of sale of goods and services {113,340) - - - {113,340)

Shara of profit from equity-

accounted associates and joint

ventures, nel 21,357 - - - 21,357
Gain on disposal of equity-

accounted assoctates and joint

ventures 68,018 - - - 68,018
income from financial investrments,

net 24,819 - 916,141 - 940,960
Income from investment properties,

net - 69,339 - - 69,339
Other income, nef 6,684 {1,436) 20,713 13,246 39,207
General and administrative

expenses — parant (15,102) - (73,622} {88,724)
General and administrative

expenses - subsidiaries {32,076) {12,580} {130,152) . (174,808)
Finance income / {cosi), nel 4,458 {9,091} {128,957) {98,780) {232,370)
Profit / {loss) before tax 114,929 46,232 677,745 (159,156) 679,750
Tax expense - - - {313} {313}
Profil / (loss) for the year 114,929 48,232 677,745 (159,469} 879,437
Other comprehensive income 10,419 - - - 10,419
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements {(continued)

6 Operating segments (continued)

AED ‘000 Private
2023 Investments Waha Land Public Markets Corporate Consolidated
Revenue from sale of goods and
N S 140|433 - - = 140.433

Cost of sale of goods and services (107.456) - - - {107,456)
Share of profit from equity-

accounted associates and joint

ventures, nel 5,059 - - - 5,059
Gain on disposal of equity-

accounted associates and joint

venlures 5021 - - - 5,021
Income / {loss) from financial

investments, net (44,886) - 1,134,324 - 1,089,438
Income from investment properties,

net - 59,790 - - 59,790
Other income, net 610 1,231 28,272 3 30,116
General and adminisirative

expenses — parent {17,707) - - {74,026) {91,733}
General and administrative

expenses — subsidiaries {35.7086) {13,446) {118,765) - {167,917)
Finance {cost} f income, net 4,303 {4,020) {21,308) {118,286) (139,311)
Profit / (loss) before tax {80,329) 43,555 1,022,623 {192,309) 823,440
Tax expense {3,280) - - - {3,286)
Profit / {loss) for the year {53,615) 43,555 1,022,623 {192,30%) 820,154
Other comprehensive l0ss {4,167} - - - (4,167)

Segment income reported above represents income generated from extemal customers. There was no inter-segment
income during the year (2023: AED nil). All revenues are generated from sales of goods and services within the UAE.
Included in revenue from sales of goods and services are revenues of approximately AED 19,797 thousand {2023: AED
20,875 thousand) which arose from the Group's largest customer, Two customers {2023: one customer) contributed 10%
or more to the Group's revenue for 2023,

During the year, the Group recognised an impaiment loss of nil (2023: nil) on investments in equity accounted investees,
and a fair value gain of AED 13,589 thousand (2023: AED 16,061 thousand) en investment properties in the Waha Land
segment.

The accounting policies of the opserating segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 3.
Segment profit represents the profit earned by each segment without allocation of central administration cost amounting to
AED 159,469 thousand (2023: AED 192,309 thousand). This is the measure reported to the chief operating decision maker
for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

6 Operating segments (continued)

AED '000 Private
2024 investments Waha Land Public Markets  Corporate Consolidated
Investment in equity-accounted

associates and joint ventures 95,246 - - - 95,246
Other assels 712,651 977,188 12,256,747 175,018 14,121,604
Segment assets 807,897 977,188 12,256,747 175,018 14,216,850
Segment liabilities 80,248 176,470 4,499,880 1,198,334 5,954,932
Capital expenditures 6,865 7161 109 670 14,805
Deprecialion and amortisation 14,615 28 83 341 18,145
AED '000
2023
Investment in equity-accounted

associates and joint ventures 88,313 - - - 88,313
Other assets 866,237 961,872 11,425,510 198,950 13,452,569
Segment assets 954,550 961,872 11,425,510 198,950 13,540,882
Segment liabilities 64,696 208,086 5222959 1,376,026 6,871,767
Capital expenditures 2,974 117,732 91 650 121,447
Depreciation and amortisation 17,012 26 61 3,320 20,419

For the purpose of monitoring segment performance and allocating resources between segments:

e All assets are allocated to operating segments other than corporate assets of AED 175,018 thousand (2023: AED

158,950 thousand)

+  Allliabilities are allocated to operating segments other than corporate liabilities of AED 1,198,334 thousand (2023:

AED 1,376,026 thousand}
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WAHA CAPITAL

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

8

Investment properties

2024 2023

AED ‘000 AED ‘000

At 1 January 413,450 282,232
Additions 7,181 117,732
Fair value gain 13,589 15,061
Assets held for sale - (1,575)
At 31 December 434,200 413,450

Investment properties comprise of land and buildings that are constructed for commercisl and industrial use.

The Group has recognised a portion of the land granted in the consolidated financial statements by applying the accounting
policy with respect to government grants (refer to note 3{0)) and investment properties (refer to note 3{d)). The land grant
related to the portion of Jand for which the Group has no development plans, remains unrecognised on the consolidated
statement of financial position as at reporting date.

Investment properties are categorised into level 3 of the fair value higrarchy based on the inputs to the valuation technique
accepted by the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors and consistent with IFRS requirements. The valuation, as of 31
December 2024 was performed by management with reference to an accredited independent appraiser having an
appropriate recognised professional qualification and recent experience in the location and category of the property being
valued. In estimating the fair value, the current use of the property was deemed to be its highest and best use. Valuation
methodologies considered include:

e The Income Capitalization Approach, where income receivable under comparable leases, existing lease
agreements and projected future rental streams are capitalized at appropriate rates to reflect the investment
market conditions at the valuation date.

e The Comparable methad, which identify identical or similar assets (properties) that have been sold, analysing the
sales prices achieved and the relevant market data and establishing value by comparison with those properties
that have been sold

« The Residual Value Method, which requires the use of estimates such as sale price, construction costs,
professional fees, financing cost and targeted intemal rate of retum. These estimates are based on local market
conditions existing at the end of the reporting period.

The Income Capitalisation Approach was used to derive the fair value of buildings where the discount rate used ranged
from 10% — 12%. The Comparable method and Residual Value Method were used to derive the fair value of land plots
where the sales price ranged from AED 34 to AED 36 per sq. ft.

Based on the revaluation, a fair value increase of AED 13,589 thousand was recognised in the current year (2023:
AED 15,061 thousand).

Income from investment properties, net

2024 2023

AED ‘000 AED ‘000

Rental income 59,473 48,487
Operating costs {3,723) (3,758)
Fair value gain 13,588 15,061
69,339 59,790
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements {continued)
9 Goodwill and intangible assets

Capital work

Goodwill Trademarks Software  in progress Total

AED ‘000 AED “000 AED ‘000 AED ‘000 AED '000
Useful economic lives {years) Indefinite 5-10 3-5
Cost
At 1 January 2023 36,507 24,952 8,931 - 70,390
Adjustments - - 554 - 554
Additions - - 107 - 107
At 31 December 2023 36,507 24,952 9,592 - 71,051
Additions - - - 363 363
At 31 December 2024 36,507 24,952 9,592 363 71,414
Accumulated amortisation and
impairment
At 1 January 2023 - 24,952 8,474 - 33,426
Adjustments - - 544 - 544
Amortisation - - - - -
At 31 December 2023 - 24,952 9,018 - 33,970
Amortisation - E 4 - 4
At 31 December 2024 - 24,952 9,022 - 33,974
Net carrying amount
At 31 December 2024 36,507 - 570 363 37.440
At 31 December 2023 36,507 - 574 - 37.081

Goodwill acquired through business combinations with indefinite useful lives is allpcated to the Healthcare cash-generating
units within the Private Investment operating segment, The recoverable amounts of these cash-generating units were
determined using “fair value less cost to sale” approach. For this purpose, the fair vaiue is based on market approach and
key inputs in the valuation methodology are EBITDA/revenue and their market driven multiples. EBITDAfrevenue cash flows
projection is based on the most recent financial information and enterprise value is determined after taking account of cash
outflows. Management believes that any reasonably possible change in the key assumptions on which recoverable amount
is based, would not cause the aggregate carrying amount to exceed the recoverable amounts of the cash generating units
and hence the goodwill is not impaired.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

10 Loan investments

1

2024 2023
AED 000 AED ‘000
Loan investments - amortised cost 52,699 46,340

During 2022, the Group provided an interest-bearing loan amounting to AED 36,044 thousand ata PIK interest rate of 13%
per annum compounded quarterly. The loan is repayable in five years. As of 31 December 2024, the Group has outstanding
loan of AED 52,699 thousand {2023: AED 46,340 thousand} inclusive of capitalized interest of AED 16,200 thousand {(2023:
AED 9,996 thousand) under the PIK arrangement, Loan can be extended by the borrower for ane year. The Group believes
that ECL provision would not be material to the financial statements. The loan is secured by the guarantee provided by the
parent of SPV.

Investments in associates and joint ventures

2024 2023
Carrying amount AED ‘000 AED 000
Associates 78,840 78,957
Joint ventures 16,408 9,356
95,246 88,313
11.1 Details of material associates
Details of the Group’s material associate at the end of the reporting period are as follows:
. Principal Country of Group's shareholding
Associate activity incorporation 2024 2023
Channel VAS Investments Limited Fintech UAE 10.48% 10.48%

The Group considers this investment as an associate dug its rights to representation of the group on the board of investee
company.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

11 Investments in associates and joint ventures {continued)

1.1 Detalls of material associates {continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s material associate is set out below. The summarised financial
information below represents amounts shown in the associate's financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS

(adjusted by the Group for equity accounting purposes).

Optasia’
2024 2023
AED ‘000 AED ‘000
{Unaudited) {Audited)
Statement of financial position
Current agsets
- cash and cash equivalents 29,546 43,142
- others 328,463 202,874
Non-current assets 151,503 154,058
Current liabilities
- trade and other payables {28,448) (29,621}
- others (57,939) (30,544}
Non-current liabilities (271,497) (272,833)
Non-controlling interests (6,735) {1,090)
Statement of profit or loss
Revenue 494,930 472,861
Expenses {249,079) (283,773}
Interest expense (45,701) {29,425)
Depreciation and amortisation {28,650} (28,051)
Other operating loss - (1,265)
Profit before tax 171,500 130,347
Income tax expense (28,927) {29,301}
Profit for the year 142,573 101,046
Statement of cash flows
Dividends received during the year 8,201 5,186
Group’s share of contingencies 31,852 16,800

Group's share of commitments -

1The 2024 amounts disclosed above pertain to the eleven-month period ended and as of 30 November 2024. The 2023

amounts disclosed pertain to the twelve-month year ended and as of 31 December 2023,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
11 Investments in associates and joint ventures {continued)
11.1 Details of material associates {continued)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying amount of the interest in the Group’s material
associate recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

Optasia
2024 2023
AED ‘000 AED '000
Net assets of the associate 144,893 84,984
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest 10.48% 10.48%
Group’s share of net assets of the associate 15,185 8,906
Goodwill 42,150 42,750
Intangible assets 9,857 15,897
Other adjustments 11,048 11.404
Carrying amount of associate 78,840 78,957
The movement of investment in associates is presented below:
2024 2023
AED ‘000 AED '000
As at 1 January 78,957 85,769
Disposals - (2,898)
Share of profit, net 10,348 5439
Share of other comprehensive income {2,982) {4,167}
Distributions received {7483) {5,186}
78,840 78,957
11.2 Details of material joint ventures
Principal Country of Group’s shareholding
Joint venture activity incorporation 2024 2023
Oil and gas
Petronash Global Limited ! services Cayman Islands - 32.09%

' On 6 August 2018, the Group, along with co-investors, entered into a subscription agreement to acquire 35% stake in
Dubai-based Petronash Global Limiied (Petronash}, a global oilfield services and manufacturing company, for an upfront
consideration of AED 322,762 thousand and a deferred contingent consideration of AED 134,863 thousand. The transaction
closed on 10 October 2018 which includes options, pursuant to which the Group can increase its ownership up to 50% in
Petronash. During the year, the Group has disposed its full stake in Petronash resulting in a gain of AED 68,018 thousand.

During the year, the Group recognised net share of gain of AED 11,009 thousand (2023: AED 380 thousand), from joint
ventures that are not individually material the total canying value of such investments amounting to AED 16,406 thousand
{2023: AED 9,355 thousand).

The movement of investment in joint ventures is presented below:

2024 2023

AED ‘000 AED '000

As at 1 January 9,356 9,736
Share of profit, net 11,009 {380}
Distributions received (3,959} -
16,406 9,356
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

12 Financial investments

2024 2023
AED ‘000 AED '000
Financial assets at amortised cost
Reverse repurchase contracts, net? 204,256 -
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Investment in unquoted funds and private equities 342,494 426,103
Derivative assets’ 215,324 238542
Listed fixed income securities? 7,566,405 5,391,776
Listed equity securities 1,943,150 2,395.507
Convertible preference shares * - 200,009
Other investments SR sl %83 963
10,272,592 8,652,900
Financial investments held outside the UAE amount to AED 9,369,226 thousand {31 December 2023: AED 7,333,842
thousand}.

The Group enterad into interest rate swap (IRS} to partially hedge its interest rate risk in relation to its floating rate
borrowings to manage interest rate risk of the newly secured revolving loan facility during the year. Under IRS contract, the
Group agrees to exchange the difference between fixed and floating rate interest amounts calculated on agreed notional
principal amounts. Such contract enables the Group to mitigate the risk of changing interest rates and the cash flow
exposures on the issued variable rate borrowing hetd. Under the IRS contract, the Group fixes the interest rate of a portion
of the new borrowings, which was obtained during the year {note 16).

Derivative assets held by the Group include total return swaps, credit default swaps, currency, and interest rate futures,
which are measured at fair value, Level 2 {see note 30).

2Reverse repurchase contracts are shorted simultansousty. The carrying amounts presented are net of reverse repurchase
receivables of AED 2,923,174 thousand and corresponding liabilities of AED 2,718,920 thousand (31 December 2023
reverse repurchase receivables of AED 2,119,760 thousand and corresponding liabilities of AED 2,137,893 thousand}. The
fepurchase agreements are subject to a master neiting agreement.

3 isted fixed income securities aggregating to AED 4,772,026 thousand {31 December 2023: AED 3,557,448 thousand) are
pledged as security against the Group's borrowings under repurchase agreements.

10n 20 August 2020, the Group entered into a subscription agreement with Despegar.com, a NYSE-listed online travel
company in Latin America to acquire 50,000 Series B Preferred Shares, without par value for an aggregate purchase price
of $50 million. The terms of the transaction include an option to the holder to convert each Series B Preferred Shares into
108.1081 common shares of Despegar.com. The Group paid net cash consideration of AED 180,222 thousand for the
transaction which was closed on 21 September 2020. During the year, the Group disposed its entire holding in
Despegar.com for a consideration of AED 221,078 thousand.

Maturity profiles of derivative assets are as follows:

2024 2024 2023 2023

Notional Fair value Notional Fair value

AED 000 AED ‘000 AED '000 AED ‘000

Due within 1 year 2,179,951 37,068 2,435,964 54,680
Due between 1 to 3 years 625,260 14,542 144 251 14,677
More than 3 years 4,853,747 166,714 816,295 169,185
7,658,958 215324 3,396,510 238,542
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

13 Trade and other receivables

2024 2023
AED ‘000 AED 000
Trade receivables 41,418 1,722,709
Allowance for expacied credit logses on trade receivables {4,235) {16,815)
37,181 1,705,894
Prepayments and advances 4,248 6,900
Accrued interest 103,660 125,096
Restricted hank balances’ 15,742 15,742
Deposits under lien 1,051 1,045
targin accounts 1,665,534 1,009,459
Other receivables 168,550 69,529
Allowance for expected credit losses on other receivables (534) (5,243}
1,895,432 2,928 422
1amounts set aside in banks against unclaimed prior years dividends.
2Ralance includes proceeds from disposal of a joint venture amourting to AED 79,077 thousand (note 11.2}.
The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables as at 31 December by geographic region is:
2024 2023
AED 000 AED 000
Middie East 41,129 1,721,959
Other regions 287 750
41,416 1,722,709
The ageing of frade receivables as at 31 December is:
2024 2023
Trade Expected Expected Trade Expected Expected
receivables  credit losses credit receivables  credit losses credit
AED'000 AED’000 loss rate AED'D0Q AED'000 loss rate
Not past due 8,672 121 0-25% 1,686,792 435 0-25%
Past due:
Within 90 days 12,397 276 0-35% 2,739 216 5-35%
91 days - 180 days 5,761 351 3-45% 4,036 509 15 - 50%
181 days - 365 days 2144 596 10-70% 2,337 515 25-75%
> 365 days 5,442 2,891 20-100% 26,805 15,140 40 -100%
41,416 4,235 1,722,709 16,815
Movement in allowance for expected credit losses on trade receivables:
2024 2023
AED ‘000 AED '000
Balance at the beginning of the year 16,815 16,832
Expected credit losses recognised during the year 583 2,129
White-off - {1.641)
Cther adjustments {13,163) (505}
Balance at the end of the year 4,236 16,815
Movement in allowance for expected credit losses on other receivables:
2024 2023
AED '000 AED '000
Balance at the beginning of the year 5,243 534
Expected credit losses recognised during the year - 4709
Write-off {4,709} -
Balance at the end of the year 6534 5,243
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

13 Trade and other receivables {continued)

In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, the Group considers any change in the credit quality of the trade
receivable from the date credit was initially granted up to the end of the reporting period.

Deposits under lien represent cash collateral for letters of guarantee issued by commercial banks in favour of the Central
Bank of the UAE on behalf of the Group. The interest rate on deposits under lien is 0.55% {2023: 0.55%) per annum. All
deposits under lien are placed with UAE banks.

14 Cash and bank balances

2024 2023

AED ‘000 AED '000

Deposits held with banks 97,007 96,450
Cash at banks 304,381 770,491
Cash in hand 60 56
901,448 866,997

Less: Allowance for expected credit losses (55) (65)
Cash and cash equivalents 901,393 866.942

The interest rate on shart term deposits ranged between 4,15% - 5.57% (2023: 4.80% - 5.73%) per annum. All short-term
deposits are placed with UAE banks.

15 Share capital and dividend

2024 2023

Authorised and fully paid up capital: AED '000 AED '000
1,883,513,614 shares {2023: 1,944,514,687 shares) of AED 1

each 1,883,514 1,944,515

On 26 March 2024, the Company held its Annual General Meeting {"AGM") which, among other things, approved a cash
dividend of AED 188,351 thousand representing 10 fils per share (21 March 2023: approved a cash dividend of AED 1 50,681
thousand representing 8 fils per share}.

On 12 March 2023, the Company's Board of Directors resolved to cancel 61,001,073 shares held by the Company {which
included the shares still held by the Company as a result of the buyback program), after necessary regulatory approvals.

At the AGM and in order to finalise the cancelation of these shares, shareholders approved the amendment of the articles
of assaciation of the Company to reflect the new share capital.

As of 31 December 2024, the Company holds 20,284,202 treasury shares at AED 39,75% thousand (31 December 2023:
AED 187,066 thousand).

A cash dividend of 10 fils per share is proposed for 2024 by the Board of Directors of the Company subject to the approval
of the shareholders in the forthcoming Annual General Megeting.

The basic and diluted eamings per share for the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 has been calculated using the
weighted average number of shares cutstanding during the year after considering the effect of treasury shares.

2024 2023
Proiit for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent
(AED "000) 381,277 440,102
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of
basic and diluted earnings per share 1,852,571,847 1,875,496,493
Basic and diluted eamings per share aftributable to the equity
halders of the parent {AED) 0.206 0.234
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WAHA CAPITAL

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

16 Borrowings (continued)

Reconciliation of borrowings movement to cash flows arising from financing activities is as follows:

At 1 January

Loans drawn down

Loans (repaid) / obtained for financial assets at FVTPL
Loan arrangement costs, net of amortisations

Loans repaid

2024 2023

AED ‘000 AED 000
5,955,844 3,585,715
1,174,619 2,305,404
(414,630) 91,971
(6,013) 7,300
{1,336,557) (34,546)
5,373,263 5,955,844

During the year, an amount of AED 14,818 thousand was net repayment of the secured Murabaha-ljara based financing for
further development of its light industrial real estate project.

During the year, the Group's repurchase liabilities against its investment in fixed income securities decreased by

AED 414,630 thousand.

17 Financial liabilities

2024 2023
AED “000 AED ‘000
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Reverse repurchase agreements' - 18,138
Financial liabilities at FVTPL
Derivative liabilities 229,698 200,728
229,698 218,866
Trefer to note 12.
Maturity profiles of derivative liabilities are as follows:
2024 2024 2023 2023
Notional Fair value Notional Fair value
AED ‘000 AED ‘000 AED '000 AED *000
Due within 1 year 385,730 31,368 36,780 9,489
Due between 1 to 3 years - - - 10,045
More than 3 years 978,873 198,330 1,670,483 181,194
1,364,603 229,698 1,707,263 200,728
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

18 Trade and other liabilities

Trade payables

Interest accrued on borrowings

Dividends payable

Long term employee incentive plans accrual {note 29)

Deferred income

End of service benefit provision

Other payables and accruats

WAHA CAPITAL

2024 2023
AED '000 AED ‘000
21,369 372,199
256 78,251
15,744 15,744
74,674 78,211

2 5,288

23,416 23,093
172,141 99,565
307,600 672,351

Trade and other liabilities are stated at amortised cost. The average credit peried for the trade payables is 60 days. The
Group has financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all the payables are paid within the agreed credit

period. The contractual maturities for frade payables are within one year.

19 Leases

The Group as lessee

The Group has entered into operating lease arrangements for office and medical facility space.

The movement in the Group's right-of-use assets and lease liabilities during the year is as follows:

As at 1 January 2023
Depreciation expense
interest expense
Payments

As at 31 December 2023
Reassessment

New leases

Depreciation expense
Interest expense
Payments

As at 31 December 2024

49

Right-of-use Loase
assets liahilities
AED ‘000 AED ‘000
35,245 34,368
(11,814) -
- 1,888

= (14,836)
23,431 21,420
&24) (928)
32,452 32,452
{12,516} -
- 1,881
- {13,740)
42,743 41,085
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

19 Leases (continued)
The Group as lessee {continued)

The following are the amounts recognised in profit or loss:

2024 2023

AED ‘000 AED ‘000

Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets 12,516 11,614
Interest expense on lease liabilities 1,881 1,888
Expense relating to short-term leases 201 276
Total amount recognised in profit or loss 14,598 13,978

The Group as lessor

Operating leases relate to the investment properties owned by the Group with lease payments between 1 to 15 years {2023;
1 to 15 years).

Rental income eamed by the Group on its investment properties is set oulin note 8.

The non-cancellable operating lease receivables are set out below:

2024 2023
AED ‘000 AED '000
Within one year 63,830 46,031
Between 2 and 5 years 116,747 64,788
More than 5 years 28,857 2,012
208,234 112,831
20 Revenue from sale of goods and services
2024 2023
AED ‘000 AED ‘000
Revenue 180,111 140,433
Cost of sale (113,340) (107 ,456)
Gross profit 36,771 32,977

Revenue and cost of sales of services are mainly attributable to the healthcare operations. Performance obligations relating
to goods and services are satisfied at the point in time.

All revenues are generated within UAE.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

21 Income from financial investments

2024 2023
AED 000 AED '000
Financial assets at fair value through profit of loss
Net loss from investment in unguoted funds and private equities (91,362) {40,150}
Net gain from derivatives 72,228 188,975
Net gain from listed fixed income securities 332,031 298,045
Net gain from listed equity securities 95,310 414,821
Net gain from convertible preference shares 21,069 39,015
Dividend income from listed equity securities 95,082 88,894
Interest income from listed fixed income securities 354,612 138,362
Profit income from sukuk 10,281 8,799
Others 47,809 (47,323)
940,960 1,089,438
22 General and administrative expenses
2024 2023
AED ‘000 AED ‘000
Company Subsidiarles Tatal Company  Subsidiaries Total
Staff costs 57,438 120,582 178,020 58,090 122,355 180,445
Legal and other professional
expenses 16,011 30,530 46,541 12,836 17,961 30,797
Depreciation 3,439 2,321 5,760 3,335 3,395 6,730
Marketing expenses 2,777 1,333 4,110 1,947 2,285 4,232
Pravision for expected credit
losses - 533 583 4,709 2,238 6,947
Others! 9,059 19,459 28,518 10,816 19,683 30,499
88,724 174,808 263,332 91,733 167,917 259,650

1 During the year, the Group made social contributions amounting to AED 1,429 thousand (2023: AED 3,027 thausand).

23 Finance cost

2024 2023

AED '000 AED '000

Interest on borrowings 300,975 182,487
Interest on lease liabilities 1,881 1,888
Amortisation of loan arrangement costs 6,125 7.300

308,981 191,675
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

24

25

26

Finance income

2024 2023

AED ‘000 AED ‘000

Interest income from loan investments at amortised cost 6,343 5,622
Interest earned on time deposits 5,665 3,052
Collateral and other interest income 64,289 42,077
Unwinding of interest on disposal of an investmen! property 314 1,613
76,611 52,364

Non-current asset held for sale

During 2022, the Group decided to sell a part of its investment properties and an SPA was signed to complete the sale of
this asset. As a result, this portion was reclassified to an asset held for sale. However, due to circumstances beyond the
Group's control, the sale was not concluded and the SPA was terminated in Q1 2024. Following the termination of the SPA,
the Group has reengaged with multiple buyers to complete the sale transaction and is currently in process of reviewing their
proposals. The Group remains committed to the sale of this asset and is working towards finalizing this transaction. As of
31 December 2024, asset held for sale amounted to AED 468,515 thousand (2023: AED 468,515 thousand).

The valuation, as of 31 December 2024 was performed by management with reference to an accredited independent
appraiser having an appropriate recognised professional qualification and recent experience in the location and category of
the property being valued.

As per the assessment, the fair values of these properties is not materially different from the carrying values.

Taxes

UAE Corporate Tax Law
On 9 December 2022, the UAE Ministry of Finance released Federal Decree-Law No. 47 of 2022 on the Taxation of

Corporations and Businesses (Corporate Tax Law or the Law) to enact a Federal corporate tax (CT) regime in the UAE.
The CT regime has become effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 June 2023.

Since the Group is expected to pay tax in accordance with the provision of the UAE CT Law on its operational resulls with
effect from 1 January 2024, current taxes have been accounted for in the consolidated financial statements for the period
beginning from 1 January 2024.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

26 Taxes {continued)
Deferred taxes should be measured by reference to the tax rates and laws, as enacted, or substantively enacted, by the
end of the reporting period, that are expected to apply in the periods in which the assets and liabilities to which the deferred
tax relates are realized or seltled.

Amount recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income:

The major components of income tax expanse for the year ended 31 December:

2024 2023

AED ‘000 AED 000

Current income tax expense 313 =
Deferred income tax credit relating to origination and reversal

of temporary differences B 3,286
Income tax expense recognized in consclidated statement of

profit or loss 313 3,286
Reconciliation of accounting income (for UAE entities only)

2024

AED ‘000

Accounting profit before tax 679,437

Profit attributable to NCI {298,160)

381,277

At United Arab Emirates' statulory income fax rate of 9% 34,315

Effect of standard exemption (34)

Income not subject to tax {33,968)

TP adjustment ]

Income tax expense reported in the consolidated income statement 313

Effective tax rate 0.08%

As at 31 December 2024, there were no amounts recognised directly to equity or in other comprehensive income.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
27 Related parties

28

29

Related parties include major shareholders of the Company, directors or officers of the Group, enterprises that are in a
position to exercise significant influence over the Group or those enterprises over which the Group can exercise significant
influence or has joint control.

The Group conducts its transactions with related parties are required to be conducted in compliance with all relevant laws
and regulations. Where a Board member has an actual or perceived conflict of interest over an issue to be ¢onsidered by
the Board, the interested member may not vote on any relevant resolutions and can also be asked by the Chairman not to
participate in the relevant Board discussions. The Company has a conflict-of-interest policy for Board members and, for
senior management, a code of conduct. The Company takes reasonable steps to maintain an awareness of the other
relevant commitments of its directors and senior management, and thus is able to monitor compliance with this policy and
code.

Significant transactions with related parties

Key management personnel compensation 2024 2023
AED '000 AED ‘000
Shor-term benefits 10,561 11,731
End of service and other long-term benefits 360 417
10,921 12,148
Commitments
Capital commitments

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has capital commitments of AED 6,152 thousand (2023: nil) with respect to WPL.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has outstanding capital calls of AED 31,112 thousand {2023: AED 40,329 thousand}
pertaining 1o its investment in unquoted fund and private equities.

Employee compensation

In designing its employee compensation plans, the Group's primary objective is to provide employees with a robust
compensation platiorm upon which they are encouraged to pursue outstanding returns and to reward them based on their
results in line with the interests of the Group. This is achieved through a combination of cash salaries, variable bonuses
dependent upon Group and individual's performance, and participation in various long term employse incentive and co-
investment programs described below.

Investment profit participation plans

The Group's Board of Directors has approved the following cash seftied long term incentive plan for certain employges

linked to investment profit participation:

s A trading plan, whereby the employees are granted points linked to the fund's performance which vests annually.
An amount representing the value of vested points derived from the fund's net asset value is divided into a cash
payment and cash deferral. The amount of the cash deferral is index-linked to the relative fund performance for a period
of three years. The reinvested amount vests over the three-year period and after completing the service condition a
cash payment is made.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
30 Financial instruments

Overview

The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:
*  credit risk
«  liquidity risk
s market risk
*  operational risk

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure 1o each of the above risks, the Group’s objectives, policies and
processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Group’s management of capital.

Risk management framework

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group's risk management
framework. The Board of Directors has established a permanent Risk and Compliance Committee, comprising of three
members of the Board of Directors. In addition, Management has established a committee comprising of senior
management, These committees are responsible for overseeing the Group’s risk management and compliance activities
(including the implementation and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management framework). The Group’s risk management
framework is established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and
to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk managsment framework is reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market
conditions and the Group's activities. The Group, through its training and management standards and procedures, aims to
develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations.

The Group Audit Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Group's risk management policies
and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Group.
The Group Audit Committee is assisted in its oversight role by an intemal audit team. The Intermal audit team undertakes
regular reviews of risk management controls and procedures, the results of which are reported to the Audit Committee.

In respect of public market transactions, the Group has implemented risk management policies and guidelines, as set out
in the Private Placement Memorandums of Waha MENA Equity Fund SP, Waha Emerging Markets Credit Fund SP, Waha
EM Equity Fund SP and Waha Islamic Income Fund SP {all together the “Funds”), which set out the procedures o be
performed prior to making investment decisions, including employing qualitative analyses, quantitative techniques, due
diligence and management meetings as well as fundamental research on evaluation of the issuer based on its financial
statements and operations. In addition to analysing financial instruments, the Group determines the relative attractiveness
of investing in different markets in order to determine the country weighting in each area. In assessing the investment
potential in each area, the Group cansiders economic growth prospects, monetary decisions, political rigks, currency risks,
capital flow risks, and other factors.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

30 Financial instruments (continued)

a) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its
contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group's receivables from customers, derivative assets, cash and
cash balances and loan investments. As at the end of the reporting date, the Group’s financial assets exposed to credit fisk
amounted to:

2024 2023
AED ‘000 AED '000

Financial assets at amortised cost
Cash and bank balances’ 901,333 866,886
Trade and other receivables? 4,891,184 2,921,522
Loan investment 52,699 46,340
Reverse repurchase contracts, net 204,256 -
3,049,472 3,834,748
Financial investments at FVTPL 10,068,336 8,652,900
13,147,808 12,487,648

1 Cash and bank balances exclude cash in hand
2 Trade and other receivables exclude prepayments and advances

(i) Bank balances
Substantially all of the bank balances are held with reputed financial institutions with S&P credit ratings ranging between
A and BBB+, therefore, there are no significant credit risks as at reporting date.

{ii} Trade and other receivables

The Group’s exposure to cradit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. The
charagteristics of the Group’s customer base including default risk of the industry and country in which the Group's
customers operate are some of the factars which influence credit risk.

The Group has established various policies and procedures to manage credit exposure, including initial financial
assessment and appraisal, collateral and guaraniee requirements and continual credit monitoring. The expected credit
losses on trade and other receivables are estimated based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions, and an assessment of both the current as well as the
forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date, including time value of money where appropriate.

Credit risk arising on transactions with brokers relates to transactions awaiting setflement. Risk related to unsettled
transactions is considered small due to the short setttement period involved and high credit quality of the brokers used.

{iii) Lending
The Group limits its exposure to credit risk by investing in securities which are fully collaterised or guaranteed and with
credit ratings which are within the limits prescribed by the Group's financial risk management guidelines.

(iv) Derivative assets
The Group limits its exposure to credit risk on derivative assets by dealing with financial institutions and commercial banks
that have S&P credit ratings ranging between A and BBB+ as at the reporting date.
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WAHA CAPITAL

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

30 Financial instruments {continued)
¢) Marketrrisks {continued)
I} Currency risk

The Group may be exposed to currency risk on financial investments, trade receivables and trade payables that are
denominated ih a currency other than the respestive functional currencies of Group entities. In respect of the Group's
transactions and balances denominated in US$, Qatari Riyal {QAR), Saudi Riyal (SAR), the Group is not exposed to the
currency risk as the UAE Dirham (AED) and Saudi Riyal (SAR} are currently pegged to the US$. The table below
summarizes the sensitivity of the Group’s monetary and non-monetary assets and liabilities to changes in foreign exchange
movements at year end. The analysis is based on the assumptions that the relevant foreign exchange rate
increased/decreased by 0.5% with all other variables held constant:

Effect on
2024 net equity for +/-
AED'000 Assetls Liabilities Net Exposure Hedged 0.5% sensitivity
Euro 807,802 {687,344} 120,458 {120,901) +/- (52}
Kuwaiti Dinar 174,923 - 174,923 - +f- 875
Bahvraini Dinar 1 - 1 - -
Egyptian Pound 424,828 - 424829 - +-2,124
Omani Riyal 19,704 - 18,704 - +/- 99
Others 1,074 - 1,074 - +/- 5
1,428,333 (687,344) 740,989 (130,901) +/-3,051
Effect on
2023 net equity for +/-
AED'000 Assets Liabilities Net Exposure Hedged 0.5% sensitivity
Euro 1,140,318 {996,512) 143,504 {141,064) +-1,423
Great British
Pound 490 - 490 - +-2
Kuwaiti Dinar 368,587 {17,087) 351,500 - +-1,758
Bahraini Dinar 34,043 {1,449) 32,594 - +- 163
Egyptian Pound 564,263 - 564,263 - +- 2,821
Omani Riyal 85,689 (6,159} 79,530 - +- 398
Others 26,676 {5,239) 21437 - +- 107
2,220,064 {1,026,748} 1,193,318 {141,064) +/-6,672

{ii} Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk on its investment in fisted fixed income securities carried at fair value
through profit or loss, and cash flow interest rate risk on its floating rate non-derivative borrowings. The sensitivities of these
financial instruments to changes in interest rates are as follows:

Fair value interest rate risk

« The Group had listed fixed income securities fair valued at AED 7,566,405 thousand at the end of the reporting period
(2023: AED 5,391,776 thousand), for which the Group uses a range of DVO1 (the dollar value of a basis point} for
different time intervals as a key measure of interest rate risk. An absolute measure derived from duration, it indicates
the change in price or fair value, expressed in monetary units, caused by a one basis point (0.01%) change in the yield
curve. The DVO1 for the Group’s listed fixed income securities was AED 289,389 thousand at the end of the reporting
period (2023: AED 130,826 thousand).

59



WAHA CAPITAL

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

30 Financial instruments (continued)
c) Market risks (continuad)
(i) Interest rate risk (continued)

Cash flow interest rate risk

s The Group had floating rate non-derivative borrowings of AED 5,231,432 thousand at the end of the reporting period
(2023: AED 5,793,182 thousand). Had the relevant interest rates been higherflower by 50 basis points, the Group's
finance costwould have been higherilower, therefore the profit for the year would have been lowerhigher by AED 7,010
thousand {2023: AED 47,406 thousand}.

In the normal course of business, the Group enters into interest rate swaps, where appropriate, to hedge against the net
interest rate exposure of the Group's investments in listed fixed income securities and the corresponding borrowings through
repurchase agreements, except where the interest rate exposure is deemed to be immaterial or acceptable in relation to
the cost of entering into a hedge. At the end of the reporting period, the net carrying amount of the interest rate swaps was
immaterial.

The Group entered into interest rate swaps to partially hedge its exposure to fluctuations in cash flows arising from variable
intarest rates on certain floating rate borrowings. These swaps, designated as cash flow hedges, involve exchanging floating
interest rate payments for fixed rate payments, with the interest rate swaps and corresponding loan payments settled
concurrently.

{ili) Equity and fixed income price risk

Equity and fixed income price risk arises from investments in equity and fixed income securities. Management of the Group
monitors the mix of securities in its investment portfolic based on respective benchmark market indices to reduce the
exposure on account of share prices.

d) Operational risks

Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes associated with the Group’s
involvement with financial instruments, including processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from external
factors other than credit, market and liquidity Tisks such as those arising from legal and regulatory requirements and
generally accepted standards of corporate behaviour.

The Group’s objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of financial losses and damage to the
Group’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness and to avoid control procedures that restrict initiative and creativity.

The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls to address operational risk is assigned to
senior management within each business unit. This responsibility is supported by the development of overall Group
standards for the management of operational risk in the following areas:

s requirements for appropriate segregation of duties, including the independent authorisation of transactions.

= requirements for the reconciliation and monitoring of fransactions.

« compliance with regulatory and other legal requirements.

« documentation of controts and procedures.

s requirements for the periodic assessment of operational risks faced, and the adequacy of controls and procedures to
address the risks identfied.

+ requirements for the reporting of operational losses and proposed remedial action.

s development of contingency plans.

» training and professional development.

s ethical and business standards; and

» risk mitigation, including insurance where this is effective.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

30 Financial instruments {continued)
d) Operational risks {continued)

Compliance with Group standards is supported by a programme of periodic reviews undertaken by intemnal audit. The results
of internal audit reviews are discussed with the management of the business unit to which they relate, with summaries
submitted to the Audit Committee and senior management of the Group.

e) Capital management

The Board's policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to
sustain future development of the business. Capital consists of share capital, retained earnings and reserves. The Board of
Directors monitors the retumn on capital as well as the level of dividends to ordinary shareholders in order to maintain a
balance betwaen the higher retums that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and security
afforded by a sound capital position.

In respect of the public market segment, the amount of net assets atiributable to shareholders can change significantly on
a weekly basis, as the Funds are subject to weekly subscriptions and redemptions at the discretion of shareholders, as well
as changes resulting from the Funds’ performance. The Group’s objective when managing capital is to safeguard the Funds’
ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide retumns for shareholders, provide benefits for other stakeholders
and maintain a strong capital base to support the development of the investment activities of the Funds.

The Group monitors its capital structure based on the covenants required by the Group's lenders of the Revolving Corporate
facility ("RCF"). For the year ended 31 December 2024, a gearing ratio was computed and is defined as Borrowings over
tangible assets as defined in the RCF agreement dated 2 August 2024.

The Group's gearing ratio reported to the Group's lenders of the Revolving Corporate facility {"RCF") as at 31 December
2024 was 0.25 (31 December 2023; 0,28) and was in compliance of the requirement of maximum of 0.60 times.

) Fair values
a Fair value hierarchy

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial assets and liabilities by
valuation technique:

Level 1: inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access
at the measurement date.

Level 2: inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly
or indirectly; and

Level 3: inputs are unobservable for the asset or liability.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

30 Financial instruments {continued)
fj Fair values (continued)
a Fair value hierarchy {continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value movements

WAHA CAPITAL

At 1 January
Redemptions, net
Decrease in fair value through profit or loss, net

2024 2023
AED ‘000 AED ‘000
627,075 680,258
(193,650) (4,712)
(89,968) (48 471)
343,457 627,075

b Fair values of financial assets and liabilities measured at amortised cost

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities approximate their carrying amounts.
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